
Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 20 March 2019
3.00 pm
Warspite - Council House

Members:
Councillor Ball, Chair
Councillor Winter, Vice Chair
Councillors Darcy, Derrick, Kelly, Singh, R Smith, Kate Taylor and Vincent.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 
Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 
recording for the webcast.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - Get Involved

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Oversight and Governance
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Jamie Sheldon, Democratic 
Support Officer
T 01752  305155
E Democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk
Published 12 March 2019

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Councillors.

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6)

The Committee agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 13 February 2019.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Corporate Plan 2018-22 Quarter 3 (Pages 7 - 68)

6. Customer Services (Complaints/Improvement to Delivery of 
Services)  

(Pages 69 - 78)

7. Safer Plymouth (Pages 79 - 96)

8. Customer Experience Programme Update (To Follow)

9. Work Programme (Pages 97 - 98)

10. Tracking Decisions  (Pages 99 - 
100)



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Wednesday 13 February 2019

PRESENT:

Councillor Ball, in the Chair.
Councillor Vincent, Vice Chair.
Councillors Corvid (Substituting for Councillor Taylor), Derrick, 
Johnson(Substituting for Councillor Darcy), Kelly, Singh, and R Smith  

Apologies for absence: Councillor Darcy (Councillor Johnson Substituting),
Councillor Kate Taylor (Councillor Corvid Substituting) and Councillor Winter.

Also in attendance: Andrew Hardingham (Service Director Finance), 
Councillor Jon Taylor (Cabinet Member for Education Skills and Transformation), 
Councillor Haydon (Cabinet Member for Customer Service and Community 
Safety), Andy Ralphs (Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services), 
Ross Johnston (Programme Manager), Lewis Walsh (Architecture Development 
Officer), Councillor Pete Smith (Deputy Leader), Alison Mills (Head of HR 
Specialist Services), Lorraine Slinn (ICT Training Consultant), Siân Millard 
(Oversight and Governance Manager), Sarah Lees (Consultant in Public Health), 
Matt Garrett (Service Director for Community Connections), Andy Sharp 
(Programme Manager) and Neelam Bhardwaja (Service Director for Children 
Young People and Families), Faye Hambleton (Service Director for Customer 
Services), Amanda Macdonald (Strategic Development Manager) and Jamie Sheldon 
(Democratic Advisor).

The meeting started at 3.00 pm and finished at 4.40 pm.

Note: At a future meeting, the Panel will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so 
they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 
whether these minutes have been amended.

36. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest made by Members in accordance with the 
code of conduct.

37. Minutes  

The Committee agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 2018.

38. Chair's Urgent Business  

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business.

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

39. Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report - Quarter 3  

Andrew Hardingham (Service Director Finance) presented the Capital and Revenue 
Monitoring Report – Quarter 3 to the Committee.

This report outlined the finance monitoring position of the Council as at the end of 
December 2018. 

The report detailed how the Council was delivering against its financial measures 
using its capital and revenue resources, to approve relevant budget variations and 
virements, and reported new schemes approved in the capital programme. 

The estimated revenue overspend was £1.323m. The overall forecast net spend 
equated to £186.878m against a budget of £185.555m, which was a variance of less 
than 0.72%. This needed to be read within the context of needing to deliver in 
excess of £11.000m of savings in 2018/19 on the back of balancing the 2017/18 
revenue budget where £18.000m of net revenue reductions were successfully 
delivered. 

Additional management solutions and escalated action to deliver further savings from 
the council’s savings and efficiency programme were to be brought to the table over 
the coming months in order to address the in year forecasted overspend.

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) how Plymouth City Council overspend compared to other Local Authorities;

(b) where the savings from this quarter and previous quarters had come from;

(c) whether there had been any response relating to budgetary pressures from 
the Government.

The committee noted the report.

40. The Way We Work Programme  

Councillor Jon Taylor (Cabinet Member for Education Skills and Transformation), 
Councillor Haydon (Cabinet Member for Customer Service and Community Safety), 
Andy Ralphs (Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services), Ross 
Johnston (Programme Manager) and Lewis Walsh (Architecture Development 
Officer) presented The Way We Work Programme to the Committee.

The committee were provided with an update on the progress of The Way We 
Work Programme’s plans in delivering technology modernisation and transformation 
for Plymouth City Council.

In 2018 the programme had made significant progress in delivering towards its vision 
and had achieved:

Page 2



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

 A roll-out of over 600 devices in 2018 (480 mobile devices supporting 
increased flexible working, supporting a reduction in desk ratios and reducing 
technology infrastructure related contacts to DELT, furthermore,

  a 120 desktop pc’s replaced in the 1st Stop Shop (New George Street) and 
Contact Centre (Taylor Maxwell House) enabling significant productivity 
which improved serving customers from these locations;

 A reduction in printing of 28% in 2018 compared with the comparable print 
statistics from 2017 enabling a reduction in printers supported and 
maintained;

 A review of mobile phone usage and the decommissioning of in excess of 
1100 sim cards enabling a reduction in mobile technology supported and 
maintained and the delivery of new contract saving an estimated £35k against 
the previous Vodafone contract;

 Developed high-level strategic plans for PCC’s accommodation and delivered 
some quick-win accommodation projects to reduce desk ratios in Ballard 
House from a baseline of 9.3 / 10 (April 2018) to 7.4/10 (December 2018), 
which enabled staff to work flexibly across multiple locations through drop-
down zones;

 Increased compliance through improved management processes and 
increased awareness of record management processes by clearing up and 
destroying out-dated records in Windsor House;

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) The capital expenditure when purchasing new technology;

(b) How do we make staff more paperless;

(c) How asset management could be managed and improved.

The Committee noted the update and agreed to Identify opportunities for further 
value to be added to service delivery and customer experience through the 
deliverables of The Way We Work Programme.

41. Staff Survey 2018  

Councillor Pete Smith (Deputy Leader), Alison Mills (Head of HR Specialist Services), 
Lorraine Slinn (ICT Training Consultant), Andy Ralphs (Strategic Director of 
Customer and Corporate Services), Andrew Hardingham (Service Director Finance), 
Siân Millard (Oversight and Governance Manager), Sarah Lees (Consultant in Public 
Health), Matt Garrett (Service Director for Community Connections), Andy Sharp 
(Programme Manager) and Neelam Bhardwaja (Service Director for Children Young 
People and Families) presented the Staff Survey 2018 report to the Committee.

Page 3



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

Provide an overview of the results from the Staff Survey 2018, when employees 
were asked to complete an online questionnaire or paper questionnaire 
anonymously.

During three weeks in November and December 2018, employees were asked to 
respond anonymously to an online questionnaire with 40 questions across 9 
categories. The 9 categories were:

 My Job

 My Customer (new section for 2018 following the peer review)

 My Career

 My Employer, the Council

 My Team

 My Line Manager

 Senior Managers 

 The Council

 Equality and Diversity

For staff without computer access at work, paper copies were made available either 
via their line manager, direct staff engagement, or posted to their home address. 

This year the neutral response option was removed from the survey. This meant 
that staff could only be either positive or negative in their responses. This clarity 
enabled managers to more effectively action plan their responses to the results in 
their areas.

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) How the response rate could be improved particularly relating to staff who 
don’t regularly access computers.

(b) How incentivisation could be used for staff to complete the survey.

Members noted the report and requested a Staff Survey update at a future meeting 
to discuss the outcomes of the departmental action plans.

42. Registration Service update  

Councillor Haydon (Cabinet Member for Customer Service and Community Safety), 
Andy Ralphs (Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services), Faye 
Hambleton (Service Director for Customer Services) and Amanda Macdonald 
(Strategic Development Manager) presented the Registration Service update report 
to the Committee.

Page 4



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

The Committee were provided an update on the Registration Service, specifically the 
successful completion of a restructure consultation, the service activity and 
performance.
 
The report set out and distinguished between the statutory requirements and 
discretionary services provided, which helped inform decisions on how the service 
might best be delivered once Lockyer Street is vacated in 2020 and the land sold for 
a capital receipt. 

The Committee agreed that the following recommendations be submitted to 
Cabinet for consideration –

1. The Registration Service proceeds with plans to move the repository and the 
majority of office-based registrations (births/deaths/still-births/notices of 
marriage) to Building 1 by the end of September 2019. This will ensure:

 that Building 1 is fully-utilised after being under-occupied for 
almost 4 years

 alignment with Coroners Service already based at Building 1
 that accessibility is improved for customers
 closer working relationships with the Coroner’s Service who 

share the same end-users and stakeholders
 improved communications with Derriford Hospital to improve 

GRO KPIs  

2. The Registration Service investigates whether it is viable to continue to 
provide non-statutory ceremonies (currently delivered in the Drake Suite, 
Lockyer Street). The following points need to be considered:

 customer demand for this type of non-statutory ceremony
 maintaining income
 the days of the week we might offer this type of non-statutory 

ceremony
 a suitable PCC location in the city centre which will mean revisiting 

use of the Council House or Guildhall
 a city centre location to support local businesses and revenue within 

the city

3. The Registration Service fully promotes licensing to premises across the city 
so more have the opportunity to be approved for ceremonies which will:

 improve choice for those wishing to get married or enter into a Civil 
Partnership in Plymouth

 increase business and revenue with the city
  
4. The Registration Service further investigates provision of office-based 

registrations (births/deaths/still-births/notices of marriage) in the city centre 
and other areas of the city if customer demand is proven.

Page 5



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 13 February 2019

43. Work Programme  

The Committee noted its work programme for 2018/19 and agreed to schedule the 
following item for the next municipal year

1. Staff Survey update.

44. Tracking Decisions  

The Committee noted the progress of its decisions.

Page 6



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Subject:  Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter Three 2018/19 update 

Committee: Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Date:                       20 March 2019    

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Lowry   

CMT Member:   Giles Perritt, Assistant Chief Executive  

Author:  Andrew Loton, Senior Performance Advisor 

Contact details: Andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk  

Key Decision:   N/A    

Part:   1 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose of the report:  
This report provides analysis of quarter three (October to December 2019) performance against the 

Council’s key performance indicators (KPIs), providing a detailed performance update against the 

Corporate Plan priorities.   

 

This report forms part of the Council’s Performance Framework and is a key part of our aim to achieve a 

‘golden thread’ from the Corporate Plan and its KPIs, through to service and team level business plans, 

and ultimately to individual objectives.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The Corporate Plan 2018-22   
 

 

 

This report outlines progress against the ambitions as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 

2018-22. 

 

 

Implications for Medium Term Financial Strategy and Resource Implications:     

Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is a core component of the Council's strategic framework and 

has a vital role to play in translating the Council's ambition and priorities set out in the Corporate 

Plan 2018-22-19.   
 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 

Management: 
 

The Corporate Plan complements the Council’s existing policy framework with respect to the above.  

 

Equality and Diversity: 

Where potential equality and diversity implications are identified from the implementation of any new 

activities arising from the Corporate Plan, assessments will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 

policies. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 

That Scrutiny notes the Corporate Plan Quarter Three Performance Report and considers the 

implications for delivery of the Council’s priorities. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 

 
None:- This report forms part of the Council’s agreed performance management framework. 
 

Published work / information: 

 

Background papers: 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Corporate Plan 2018-22          

          

 

Sign off:   

Fin djn.
18.1
9.19
4 
 

Leg 

 
lt/32
007/
290
1 

Mon 

Off 
lt/32
007/
290
1 

HR   Assets   IT  Strat 

Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member: Giles Perritt 

Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes 

 

Page 8



 

Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter Three 2018/19 update OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19 
Performance and Risk Team, Plymouth City Council

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 9



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 2 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Corporate Plan 

The Plymouth City Council 

Corporate Plan 2018-2022 sets out 

our mission of ‘making Plymouth a 

fairer city, where everyone does 

their bit’. It was approved by 

Council in June 2018. 

The Corporate Plan priorities are 

delivered through specific 

programmes and projects, which are 

coordinated and resourced through 

cross-cutting strategic plans (‘Plans 

for…’), capital investment and 

directorate business plans. 

The key performance indicators 

(KPIs) and their associated targets 

detailed in this report for quarter 

three 2018/19 (October to 

December 2018) tell us how we are 

doing in delivering what we have set 

out to achieve in the Corporate 

Plan.   

 

P
age 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 3 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

The purpose of this report is to provide a risk-informed analysis of performance against the priorities of the Corporate Plan 2018-2022. The priorities are grouped under 

‘A Growing City’ and ‘A Caring Council’, and the outcomes for ‘How We Will Deliver’ – the enablers of the Corporate Plan – are also reported on. 

Trend (RAG) colour scheme 

A red-amber-green (RAG) trend rating is provided to give a visual indication of whether the figure is improving or declining based on the two latest periods for which 

information is available, e.g. quarter three 2018/19 compared with quarter two 2018/19, or for annual indicators 2018/19 compared with 2017/18. 

 Indicators highlighted green: improved on the previous value or is on an expected trend 

 Indicators highlighted amber: within 15% of the previous value (slight decline) 

 Indicators highlighted red: declined by more than 15% on the previous value 

 Indicators not highlighted or ‘N/A’ have stayed the same, have no trend, or the most recent value is not comparable with previous values. 

Target (RAG) colour scheme 

 Indicators highlighted green show where Plymouth is better than target 

 Indicators highlighted amber show where Plymouth is within 15% of target 

 Indicators highlighted red show where Plymouth is more than 15% worse than target 

 Indicators not highlighted or ‘N/A’ show where no in year data is available to compare against target, or no target has been set. 

Summary pages 

Structure of this Report 

A summary page is presented for each of the three Corporate Plan themes to visually display how we have performed against our 

priorities. Our RAG-rating on these pages is used to show whether we have done better, worse or had a slight decline from the previous 

quarter or year (coloured arrows), and whether we have done better, worse or got close to the target (coloured hexagons). Some 

indicators do not have a target (for example, due to being a new indicator) and will therefore have no target RAG-rating (blue hexagons). 

Similarly, some of our indicators are new and we do not have any previous data to compare our performance to; these will have no trend 

RAG-rating in the summary pages.  

For example, the hexagon for the prevalence of excess weight among 10 to 11 year olds is green because the 2017/18 average of 33.2% is 

below the target (34.2%), whilst the arrow within the hexagon is amber because there was a slight increase from 2016/17 (31.7%). 

  

33.2% 

31.7% 

Excess 
weight in 

10-11 year 

olds 

P
age 11



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 4 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

1,455 

765 

Gross 
additional 

homes 

delivered 

Businesses 
supported 

 

 

‘A Growing City’ consists of seven priorities, each with one to three key performance indicators (KPIs). Performance for all indicators is summarised below and more detail 

on each KPI is given in the corresponding pages of this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

A Growing City – Quarter Three Summary 

40.6% 40.6% 

Household 
waste sent for 

recycling, reuse 

or composting 71.5% 

Residents’ 

view of 
Plymouth’s 

offer 

42% 

40% 

Public 
satisfaction 
with traffic 

flow 

A clean and tidy 

city (p. 8) 

A green sustainable 

city that cares 

about the 

environment (p. 21) 

An efficient transport 

network (p. 9) 

A broad range of 

homes (p. 11) 

Economic growth that benefits as 

many people as possible (p. 12) 

Quality jobs and 

valuable skills 

(p. 15) 

A vibrant 

cultural offer 

(p. 18) 

29.1% 

26.0% 

Spend on 
small and 
medium 

enterprises 

90.0% 

89.9% 

Young 
people in 

Education, 
Employment 

or Training 

£357.40 

£337.30 

Inclusive 
growth - 
earnings 

gap 

Inward 

investment 

Jobs created 
by the 

Council 

114,500 

Levels of 
cultural 

engagement 

3.9 tonnes 

3.6 tonnes 

Level of 

carbon 
emissions 

97.8% 

97.6% 

Principal 
roads (A) 

in good or 
acceptable 
condition 

£162.952 

million 

2,018 direct / 

2,452 indirect 
832 

82% 

Cleanliness 
Index 

inspected 
areas 

judged as 

acceptable 
79% 

6 

7 

Number 

of events 

P
age 12



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 5 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

51

50 

18 

Category 
one hazards 

removed 

80.9 

79.0 

Children in 
care 

49% 

39% 

Residents 

who think 
people from 

different 
backgrounds 

get on well 

92.8% 

90.1% 

Adult Social 
Care 

service 

users who 
feel safe 

and secure 

35 

Hate incidents 
reported to the 

Council 

23.4% 

Residents who 

regularly do 
voluntary work 

 

 
‘A Caring Council’ consists of six priorities, each with three or four KPIs. Performance for all indicators is summarised below and more detail on each KPI is given in the 

corresponding pages of this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.25 

2.10 

Delayed 
Transfers of 

Care 
attributable 

to Adult 

Social Care 

Keep children, young people and 

adults protected (p. 28) 

People feel safe in 

Plymouth (p. 35) 

A welcoming 

city (p. 42) 

70.6% 

69.2% 

Closed adult 
safeguarding 

enquiries 
with desired 

outcomes 

achieved 

90% 

88% 

Residents 
who feel 

safe 

(during the 
day) 

A Caring Council – Quarter Three Summary 

Improved schools where 

pupils achieve better 

outcomes (p. 25) 

Focus on prevention and 

early intervention (p. 31) 

Reduce health 

inequalities (p. 39) 
46.1% 

41.4% 

Stop 
Smoking 

service 
successful 

quit 

attempts 

52% 

63% 

Early years 

settings 
judged as 
good or 

better by 

Ofsted 
77.3% 

74.0% 

Pupils 
attending 
schools 

judged as 
good or 

better by 

Ofsted 
Key Stage 

4 pupils 

achieving 

the ’basics’ 

58.9% 

58.8% 

238 

237 

“Families 
with a 

Future” 

achieving 

outcomes 

 54.68 

43.86 

Average 
number of 
households 

in a bed and 

breakfast 

33.2% 

31.7% 

Excess 

weight in 
10-11 year 

olds 

68.0% 

66.0% 

Children 

who are 
school 

ready 

23.9% 

23.0% 

Children 
with 

multiple 

child 
protection 

plans 

33.3% 

32.9% 

Repeat 
referrals to 

Children’s 
Social 
Care 

 154 

Households 

prevented 
from 

becoming 

homeless 

65 

P
age 13



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 6 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

£5.192m 

£1.323m 

Spend 
against 

budget 

56% 

15% 

Statutory 
complaints 
completed 

within 
timescales 

83.7% 

83.6% 

Business 
rates 

collected 

70.0% 

60.0% 

Customer 

experience 

 

 

This section of the Corporate Plan consists of six outcomes, each with two or three KPIs to measure progress and performance for all indicators is summarised below. 

More detail on each KPI is given in the corresponding pages of this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How We Will Deliver – Quarter Three Summary 

71% 

53% 

Staff who 
report use 

of customer 
feedback to 

improve 

services 

Regional 

influence 

Offers 

and Asks 

Listening to our 

customers and 

communities (p. 47) 

Providing quality public 

services (p. 49) 

Motivated, skilled 

and engaged 

workforce (p. 52) 

Spending money 

wisely (p. 54) 

A strong voice for 

Plymouth regionally and 

nationally (p. 57) 

82.7% 

82.3% 

Council 
tax 

collected 

30.8% 

Residents who 

know how to get 
involved in local 

decisions 

89.25% 

86.76% 

Customer 
complaints 
resolved in 

timeframe 
(first stage) 

67% 

64% 

Staff 

engagement 
7.55 

7.30 

Days lost 
due to staff 

sickness 

P
age 14



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 7 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

A Growing City – Key Performance Indicators 

A clean and tidy city 

1. Cleanliness Index inspected areas judged as good or 

acceptable 

An efficient transport network 

1. Public satisfaction with traffic flow 

2. Principal roads (A) in good or acceptable condition 

A broad range of homes 

1. Gross additional homes delivered 

Economic growth that benefits as many 

people as possible 

1. Inward investment (including domestic and foreign) 

2. Inclusive growth 

3. Spend on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 

 

Quality jobs and valuable skills 

1. Jobs created and facilitated by the Council 

2. Young people in Education, Employment or Training 

3. Businesses supported 

 

A vibrant cultural offer 

1. Number of events 

2. Residents’ view of Plymouth’s offer 

3. Levels of cultural engagement 

 

A green sustainable city that cares about 

the environment 

1. Household waste sent for recycling, reuse or 

composting 

2. Carbon emissions 

 

P
age 15



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 8 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

What we measure: The cleanliness and condition of streets using the Land Audit Management System (LAMS). This means that we can compare ourselves to other 

members of the Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) performance network who use the same method. It consists of three main elements: street cleanliness, 

ground maintenance conditions, and the presence of hard surface weeds. These are graded on a scale of A to D, with grades A and B indicating an ‘acceptable’ standard, 

whilst C and D indicate an ‘unacceptable’ standard. 

Why we measure it: The cleanliness of our streets can affect residents' quality of life and how attractive our city is for tourists and businesses.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

What’s working well? In the latest audit round (October and November 2018), 90.9% of audits specifically relating to litter and detritus (natural litter in crevices) 

were graded at an acceptable condition. This is higher than the APSE average of 88.2%. Work with APSE continues to improve the way in which we collect, measure and 

report on the cleanliness of our streets. Work to enable the service to respond to unacceptable gradings more efficiently though the online portal (Firmstep) is well 

underway and is due to be fully implemented in preparation for the next audit submission in February 2019. 

What are we worried about? The hard surface weeds audit category resulted in 71.9% of audits being graded at an acceptable condition, which is below the 

APSE average of 79.4%. We continue to increase the number of audits undertaken in each period, which will give us a greater coverage of streets across the city and 

therefore a more representative grading following inspection periods, as well as making us more comparable with the number undertaken by other local authorities. 

What needs to happen? Weed management was previously outsourced but has now been brought back in house to give greater control over activities. In 

quarter four, an 11 week programme of trials with manual litter picking operatives will begin for the removal of weeds across the city. This will include manual litter picking, 

mechanical, heat and chemical weed management methods. A variety of approaches are being trialled, the result of which will feed into a 12 month plan from April 2020. 

We continue to increase the number of audits undertaken to ensure the robustness of our APSE results.

How have we done? 82% 

82% of the inspections undertaken in October and November 2018 

resulted in achieving an acceptable standard based on the LAMS 

assessment criteria, which is an increase of 3 percentage points. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: Baseline year 

The remainder of inspections undertaken this year will form a 

baseline year. This will inform target setting in March 2019 for the 

2019/20 financial year. 

Target rating: N/A 

A clean and tidy city 
Cleanliness Index inspected areas judged as good or acceptable 

77% 79%
82%

June/July 2018 Aug/Sept 2018 Oct/Nov 2018

Street cleanliness, ground maintenance and hard service 
weeds acceptable standard score 

APSE

P
age 16



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 9 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

  

 

 

What we measure: Public satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion on Plymouth’s roads, collected via the National Highways and Transport (NHT) Network 

annual survey. 

Why we measure it: Traffic congestion can impact negatively on: the economic health of the city through increased non-productive activity; the environment by 

increasing air pollution and carbon dioxide emissions; and on individuals who can suffer from delays and late arrival for employment, meetings, and education. As we 

undertake a lot of work to deliver a ‘free flowing’ road network, measuring people’s perception of traffic flow is important.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The 2018 NHT Survey reports that while satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion sits one percentage point below the national 

average, Plymouth’s overall satisfaction with ‘traffic management’ (58%) is higher than the NHT average (56%). Traffic signals availability is currently running at 99.97% as at 

the end of quarter three. A significant amount of work around our communications, including social media, news reports and detailed road reports, continues to be 

undertaken so that road users are able to make well informed travel choices that keep the city moving. Eight Electronic Information Boards have been upgraded this 

quarter to enable remote access, which allows highways teams to control messaging from any location. 

What are we worried about? The NHT Survey reported that satisfaction with the ‘time to complete roadworks’ (38%) is five percentage points behind the 

NHT average, whilst the ‘management of roadworks’ (50%) is one percentage point below the NHT average. Large scheduled improvement works, such as Charles Cross 

and Forder Valley Link Roads, will likely continue to impact on public satisfaction levels. 

What needs to happen? The review of the remaining Electronic Information Boards needs to be completed by the end of March 2019 to enable better messaging 

to drivers using the network, particularly in and around the improvement scheme areas. This will help to improve journey times and choices.

An efficient transport network 
Public satisfaction with traffic flow 

How have we done? 42.0% 

Increase of 2 percentage points from the previous survey in 2017, 

which is an increase of 5%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018: 48.0% 

The increase puts performance at 6 percentage points (12.5%) 

below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

43.0% 43.0%

40.0%

42.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018

Public satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion

2017 NHT average Target

P
age 17



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 10 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The condition of principal roads (A roads) in the city, collected via a mechanical condition survey. 

Why we measure it: We undertake a lot of work to maintain and improve the condition of our roads in the city to keep it moving. It is therefore important for us 

to know the condition of our roads. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The volume of safety defect work that is outstanding, for example the repair of footways and carriageways, continues to be low with 

respect to inspections and public reported defects. This means that our timeliness around response and our commitment to first time permanent fixes remains good 

quality. In addition, the 2018 National Highways and Transport (NHT) survey has highlighted that Plymouth’s overall satisfaction with the condition of highways is 33%, 

which is better than the NHT average (31%), and public satisfaction with highway maintenance in Plymouth is on par with the NHT average (both 49%). 

What are we worried about? ‘Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure – A Code of Practice’ was launched in 2016 by the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG). 

This code takes an integrated, risk-based approach to managing highway infrastructure assets and all local authorities are recommended to adopt it. The Council’s Highway 

Code of Practice will be approved by Cabinet in January 2019 and work now needs to focus on embedding the new approach through revised procedures and processes. 

What needs to happen? Alongside the adoption of the new Highways Safety Inspection Manual, which is currently being developed to describe best practice and 

what customers can expect, we need to undertake a review (including an independent review) of all Highways Asset Management documents throughout quarter four to 

ensure alignment with the new Code of Practice.

An efficient transport network 

Principal roads (A) in good or acceptable condition 

How have we done? 97.6% 

Decrease of 0.2 of a percentage point from the previous survey in 

2017. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018: 98% 

The decrease in 2018 puts performance at 0.4 of a percentage 

point below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

97.6% 97.6%
97.8%

97.6%

2015 2016 2017 2018

% of principal roads (A) in good or acceptable condition

England Target

P
age 18



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 11 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The annual gross additional homes in the city, for example through new house building completions, conversions (e.g. of a house into flats), and 

changes of use. 

Why we measure it: To continue meeting the current housing need and accommodate future population growth, it is important to have a strong programme of 

new homes within the city. New house building is the main contributor to the success of this indicator.    

 

What’s working well: We delivered 1,455 gross additional homes in 2017/18, of which 273 were a mix of affordable homes to meet a range of housing needs. In 

quarter three, performance for the year has already exceeded that for the whole of 2017/18, with 275 affordable homes being delivered; this is a real achievement. Our 

policy is for at least 30% of our gross additional homes to be affordable homes and we continue to deliver above this (51%) on Plan for Homes sites, including larger family 

homes and rent to buy models. We also have the largest affordable Passivhaus scheme in the country. We have identified Council sites and are due to make these available 

to support the delivery of ‘pop up’ housing for homeless people and more age-related homes, including bungalows, to support downsizing. We have recently published our 

five year land supply position statement for 2018 to 2023 for Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon; you can read more about this here. 

What are we worried about? Delivery and viability challenges remain around future pipeline sites. The subsidy required to deliver more affordable housing, 

including social rented homes, and securing estate regeneration funding to complete the final phase at North Prospect are also ongoing unresolved issues. 

What needs to happen? We continue to develop the Joint Local Plan (JLP) delivery strategies on all housing sites, develop housing delivery partnerships/'housing 

deals' with delivery partners, and investigate new models of delivery to further accelerate housing delivery. In addition to this, we are preparing bids to the Community 

Housing Fund to support the capacity of community groups to facilitate community led housing development.

971

1,244

765

1,455

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Gross additional homes delivered

2017/18 Target

A broad range of homes 
Gross additional homes delivered 

benchmarking 

How have we done? 1,455 

Increase of 690 homes (90%) from the number delivered in the 

previous year (2016/17), with 1,455 gross additional homes 

delivered in 2017/18. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2017/18: 1,000 

The target is to deliver 1,000 new homes each year. We are 

cumulatively exceeding this target, averaging 1,109 per annum since 

2014/15.    

Target rating: Green 

 

P
age 19

http://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/news/detail/?nId=786#.XFQfRblLHnM
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningandbuildingcontrol/5yearhousinglandsupplypositionstatement2018


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 12 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The total value of strategic projects, third party investment and notable Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) brought into the city or facilitated 

by the Council. 

Why we measure it: This provides us with insight into the level of investment being brought into the city to encourage economic growth that benefits as many 

people as possible. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Plymouth continues to grow at a rapid pace, with £500 million of property deals in the pipeline (e.g. train station regeneration, New George 

Street Block, Derriford District Centre Phase 2) and an approved capital programme of £257 million at the end of August 2018. We also look forward to the opening of 

the Range store in February and the finishing ceremony of Drake Leisure in March. We have been hugely successful in delivering public funds into the city, with the recent 

announcement of £3.5 million from the Cultural Development Fund to develop the use of immersive and digital technologies to drive growth in the local creative economy. 

The city continues to see strong FDI demand with £63 million brought into the city in 2017/18, providing high value opportunities to the people of Plymouth, and we are on 

track to exceed last year’s total for 2018/19. Land and Property are pleased to have secured approval to proceed with a £3 million project at Plymouth International. 

What are we worried about? Brexit continues to provide an element of uncertainty within the business world, which could further increase if we continue to 

move towards the end of March with no deal in place. In addition, financing construction is becoming increasingly difficult in the current economic climate and this may 

impact on timeliness for delivery. 

What needs to happen? We need to work closely with our current private sector investors to ensure the delivery of existing schemes, in addition to continuing 

to present a breadth and depth of development opportunities. Strategic projects, such as Plymouth Train Station, are awaiting an announcement from the Transforming 

Cities Fund to fund the next phase of the station concourse improvement works. We continue to build a pipeline of future projects, such as Derriford Commercial Centre, 

Langage Phase 3, Civic Centre project, Colin Campbell Court, and Oceansgate. We are currently exploring a bid for the newly announced Future High Streets Fund.  

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible 
Inward investment (including domestic and foreign) 
 

How have we done? £162.952m 

£162.952 million was invested in 2017/18. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2017/18: Baseline year 

As this is a new indicator, 2017/18 will act as baseline year to inform 

target setting. The investment forecast for 2018/19 is currently 

£207.293 million. 

Target rating: N/A 

£162.952

£207.293

2017/18 2018/19 (forecast)

Amount of inward investment (£ million)

P
age 20



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 13 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The gap in gross weekly pay between the top 20% and the bottom 20% of earners within Plymouth. 

Why we measure it: This measure provides insight into the gap in earnings between the lowest and highest earners in the city. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The Inclusive Growth Group of the Plymouth Growth Board (PGB) set out a delivery plan, which was approved by the PGB in December 

2018. The Inclusive Growth Group has recently reported growth in the earnings of both the top and bottom 20% of earners over the past two years. It was also reported 

that the average earnings of the bottom 20% in Plymouth now surpass the regional and English averages, having been lower than both in 2016. Overall, Plymouth’s earnings 

divide has reduced significantly and remains substantially less than the regional and national gaps. 

What are we worried about? Changes to the benefits system, and specifically the change to Universal Credit, can make it difficult to understand what is 

happening, particularly with low wage earnings. The National Minimum Wage: Low Pay Commission 2018 Report was published in November 2018 and suggests that 

concerns are with younger (below 30) and older (over 60) workers’ wages, part time workers, and that some sectors, such as health and beauty and childcare, experience 

both low wages and low growth rates.    

What needs to happen? We have a range of upcoming activities planned, including: a leadership programme, led by the Real Ideas Organisation as part of the 

Rank Foundation – public, private and third sectors brought together to work on a programme that creates impact and change; scoping of a Charter Mark to enable 

businesses to engage in and demonstrate their commitment to inclusive growth; a campaign encouraging recruitment, retention and development of all sections of society; 

and integration of inclusive growth activities into large, strategic projects.

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible 
Inclusive Growth 

How have we done? £357.40 

The gap in gross weekly wages increased by £20.10 from 2016, 

which is an increase of 6.0%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017: Trend decrease 

We have not set a target for this indicator because many factors 

affect the gap in wages that are outside of our control. However, 

we would like to see a year on year decrease. 

Target rating: N/A 

£357.80
£331.20 £337.30

£357.40

2014 2015 2016 2017

Gap in wages between the 20th and 80th percentile

South West

P
age 21



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 14 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The Council’s spend on goods, services and works from small and medium-size enterprises/businesses (SMEs) as a percentage of the total 

amount that has been spent on goods and services. 

Why we measure it: This tells us the extent to which we are supporting small businesses through our procurement of goods, services and works. Supporting the 

activities of small businesses is likely to deliver long-term benefits to our region, for example through the provision of local employment opportunities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? At 26.0%, spend on SMEs in quarter three 2018/19 was lower than in quarter two (29.1%) and the same period last year (26.2%), but is 

equal to the target of 26.0%. This equated to £15.227 million out of a total spend of £58.519 million in quarter three. Procuring goods and services from local businesses 

(with a PL postcode) is a further aim of the Council in order to deliver long-term benefits to our region. In quarter three, 50.9% of the Council’s total procurement spend 

was spent within the PL postcode, and 53.6% of the total SME spend was spent on SMEs in the PL postcode. 

What are we worried about? Spend with SME providers is subject to fluctuation based on the types of requirements that the organisation has and the length of 

time given to source the requirements. The Procurement Team is responsible for achieving the best value for the Council and whilst we encourage quotations from SME 

suppliers, contracts must be awarded to the most suitable and economically advantageous supplier.  

What needs to happen? We are working with departments to ensure that procurement opportunities are suitably structured to encourage and enable SMEs to 

be a part of bidding for the Council’s tenders. In addition, we are looking to provide a greater overview of the organisation’s requirements, which includes identifying a 

forward plan of procurement needs as well as firming up our understanding of our current contracts. This will further assist us in ensuring that enough time is given to 

researching and engaging the market, whilst supporting organisations to understand each opportunity and providing guidance and support on how to tender. We have been 

in contact with all local public procurement leaders in the city and through work with our public sector partners and key organisations, such as the Chamber of Commerce, 

we are looking to put on an event for a joint supply chain day, which is being planned for spring/summer 2019.

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible 
Spend on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
 

How have we done? 26.0% 

Decrease of 3.1 percentage points from quarter two 2018/19, 

which is a decrease of 10.7%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 26.0% 

Performance in quarter three is equal to the target. 

Target rating: Green 

21.1%

26.8% 26.2% 26.2%
21.9%

29.1%
26.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of spend on small and medium enterprises

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 22



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 15 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: Using the Advanced Modelling of Regional Economies (AMORE) economic impact tool, we model the capital expenditure and significant inward 

investments in order to forecast the direct and indirect number of jobs created, in addition to those jobs resulting from the inward investment pipeline. 

Why we measure it: One of the important ways that the Council impacts on the city level employment rate is through job creation by delivering major projects in 

the city. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? As our strategic projects take shape we begin to see the expected job creation become a reality. Oceansgate Phase 1 is now complete and 

there is healthy demand for the space, with 16 out of the 26 units already let. Other strategic projects across our portfolio are similarly beginning to deliver on their 

expected job creation, with the new Range store awaiting its formal opening on the 8 February and the Headquarters due to be completed from Easter onwards, creating 

more than 500 jobs in total. Drake Leisure is still programmed to open for trade in October 2019. A recent announcement by the Creative Development Fund will help to 

stimulate growth in the creative sector within the city. Employment in construction grew 24% between 2011 and 2016, comparing favourably against the national average 

where construction employment grew 11%. Overall, economic growth for Plymouth was 2.5% between 2016 and 2017, compared with a national picture of 1.9% growth. 

What are we worried about? With a forecast increase in investment next year, we can expect to see the number of jobs created or facilitated by the Council 

grow. However, Brexit continues to provide an element of uncertainty and at least one foreign owned business has announced that it will close its Plymouth operation, 

citing Brexit as a factor in its decision. The closure of Barden Corporation will cost up to 400 jobs and we are working closely with the employer to mitigate the impact. 

What needs to happen? We will continue to work with the construction sector through ‘Building Plymouth’ to help them deliver the supply of talent needed for 

the sector. We await an announcement from the Coastal Communities Fund on whether our bid to enhance the year-round visitor economy of Plymouth to create more 

sustainable jobs has been successful. The STEM (science, technology, engineering and mathematics) Group needs continued traction on improving the delivery landscape 

through its steering group and operational activity. Our Business Relationship Programme continues to work tirelessly to ensure that businesses facing issues from Brexit 

get the best support that we are able to deliver.

Quality jobs and valuable skills 
Jobs created and facilitated by the Council 

How have we done? 2,018 direct / 2,452 indirect 

In 2017/18, we created 2,018 jobs directly and 2,452 jobs indirectly. 

Trend rating: N/A 

The number of jobs forecast for 2018/19 is 2,584 direct and 3,127 

indirect jobs created. 

Target rating: N/A 

 

2,018

2,5842,452

3,127

2017/18 2018/19 (forecast)

Jobs created and facilitated by Plymouth Economic 
Development

Direct Indirect

P
age 23



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 16 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of young people aged 16 to 18 in academic years 12 to 14 who are going to, or remaining in, Education, Employment or 

Training (EET).  

Why we measure it: A young person participating in EET is an enabler to achieving better life outcomes.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? As a Council we have commissioned Careers South West to locate where pupils are receiving education, employment or training. Support 

for Plymouth has been enhanced following the Heart of the South West (HotSW) Careers Hub and Enterprise Adviser Network being put in place in November 2018. A 

£60,000 grant has also been secured with the Careers and Enterprise Company to improve work experience opportunities and employability for young people with special 

educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 

What are we worried about? In quarter three 2018/19, 5.2% of young people were not in EET; this is 0.2 of a percentage point higher than quarter three in the 

previous year. A decline in Key Stage 4 (KS4) pupils sustaining an apprenticeship destination can be seen across all benchmarks; 6% of the 2015/16 cohort of KS4 pupils 

sustained an apprenticeship in 2016/17, which is a five percentage point reduction on the previous year and a larger decrease than that seen nationally. Regionally, there has 

been an increase in the proportion of pupils sustaining an apprenticeship. The apprenticeship levy (a levy paid by employers with a pay bill of over £3 million each year) is 

believed to be a contributing factor for the national reduction in the number of apprenticeship starts. Whilst the proportion of our vulnerable cohort (care leavers, children 

in care, SEND, teenage parents, young carers, and young offenders) has reduced by nearly 12%, concerns remain for our care leavers – only 56.5% were in EET at the end 

of quarter three 2018/19. 

What needs to happen? The Raising Aspirations Steering Group is developing work to improve the identification of the destinations of young people. Delivery of 

the Careers Hub, from January 2019, needs to particularly focus on seven Plymouth schools. Additionally, there needs to be a coordinated drive to promote National 

Apprenticeship Week and support recruitment to the Young Apprenticeship Ambassador Network.

Quality jobs and valuable skills 
Young people in Education, Employment or Training 
 

How have we done? 89.9% 

Decrease of 0.1 of a percentage point from quarter one 2018/19. 

Trend rating: Amber  

Target for 2018/19: 97% 

Performance in quarter three is 7.1 percentage points below the 

target. 

Target rating: Amber 

89.3% 90.1% 90.1%90.0% 89.9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of young people in Education, Employment or Training

2017/18 2018/19 Target England

Not reported 
due to 

summer 
holidays 

P
age 24



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 17 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The sum of businesses supported through the Business Relationship Programme alongside businesses supported through the Social Enterprise 

Investment Fund, Growth Hub and Growth Support Programme, as well as the number of businesses resident in the Council's business parks. 

Why we measure it: Supporting businesses in Plymouth to thrive is another way in which we support a strong economy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The Economic Development Business Relationship Programme supported 256 businesses over the 2017/18 financial year, whilst more than 

120 businesses resided in the City Business Park and East End Business Centre. The recently announced £3.5 million from the Cultural Development Fund will be used to 

develop the use of immersive and digital technologies to drive growth in the local creative economy. The project will see more than 200 businesses and social enterprises 

benefit from support to develop new products, services, content and jobs, providing skills development for people from a range of communities, ages and backgrounds. We 

continue to make good progress on the cooperatives and mutuals sector, recently adopting the Cooperative Strategic Action Plan to double the size of the cooperative 

economy by 2025. Multiple sources of Brexit support have been created by the Growth Hub and others to ensure that businesses are supported with information on what 

to do post-Brexit, informed by scenario-based planning that has taken place. 

What are we worried about? As a city we have been consistently successful in securing European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) funding, which is a 

significant way in which we support our businesses. As Brexit approaches, we will need alternative sources of funding and are confident that the Sector Deals, Strength in 

Places Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund will continue to allow us to create the best conditions for our businesses. 

What needs to happen? Looking forward, we have enabled the first contractual one year extension option for the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)-wide 

Growth Hub, which will run from March 2019 to February 2020. In the meantime, we will continue to assess options for the future of the Growth Hub from 2020 

onwards. Furthermore, the LEP is exploring the procurement of an additional complimentary service to deliver support to growing businesses.  

Quality jobs and valuable skills 
Businesses supported 
 

How have we done? 832 

832 businesses were supported through various programmes in 

2017/18. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2017/18: Baseline year 

This is a new indicator and will provide insight into target setting 

for the following year. 

Target rating: N/A 

832

2017/18

Businesses supported in Plymouth

P
age 25



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 18 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of events provided and supported by the Plymouth Events Team and Lord Mayor’s Office, which is then split by Signature Events 

such as the British Fireworks Competition and MTV, and smaller events such as Plymouth Pirates Weekend and the Lord Mayor’s Festival. 

Why we measure it: Events held in Plymouth are an important part of Plymouth’s vibrant cultural offer. Reporting the number of events enables us to monitor our 

contribution to what is happening in Plymouth. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? We held seven events in quarter three 2018/19: Bonfire Night, Remembrance Sunday and the Battle’s Over Service, the City Centre 

Christmas Lights Switch On, the Barbican Christmas Lights Switch On, and the Christmas Market. We also partnered with Events West on the Ocean City running races. 

Combined, events in this quarter were attended by almost 207,550 people. Whilst these events do not have a national reach, and would therefore not be considered 

signature events, Bonfire Night is one of the largest events of the year, attracting 22,000 people and significantly reducing pressure on the emergency services as a result. 

The City Centre Piazza reached near capacity for the Christmas Lights Switch On, attracting 6,000 people, and Remembrance Sunday attracted a record 8,000 people. We 

had 151,942 unique visitors to our Visit Plymouth website in quarter three, mirroring previous traffic at this time of year, and our social media followers totalled almost 

151,500.     

What are we worried about? We need to continue to drive sponsorship and build new partnerships to make our events more financially sustainable in the 

long term. Great strides have been made in recent years to make events cost-neutral or sources of income. We are now focusing on the sponsorship and income 

possibilities of the National Fireworks and Hoe Music events.   

What needs to happen? We are working closely with Mayflower 400 on the development of the major city events programme for 2020, and with Destination 

Plymouth on the development of the new Visitor Plan. This creates a strategy for our Signature Events programme, which will continue to support the city’s growth.

A vibrant cultural offer 
Number of events 

How have we done? 7 

With the addition of the Battle’s Over Service to commemorate 

Armistice Day, we held one more event than compared to the 

same period in 2017/18. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target rating: N/A 

6 6 6

0

5

6

7

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of events held and partnered

2017/18 2018/19

P
age 26



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 19 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The proportion of Plymouth City Survey respondents who agree or disagree with the statements: 1) I am proud of Plymouth’s place in history; 

and 2) Plymouth has a lot to offer. 

Why we measure it: These questions give an indication of residents’ view of Plymouth’s cultural offer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The results indicate that residents are proud of Plymouth’s place in history, with 86% of respondents agreeing with the statement in the 

Plymouth City Survey, which sets a positive underpinning for the upcoming Mayflower 400 celebrations. More than half (57%) of respondents agreed that Plymouth has a lot 

to offer, with 21% disagreeing with this statement. 

What are we worried about? Those aged 16-24 years were significantly more likely to disagree with both statements than other age groups, as were people 

with disabilities or long term health problems. Views varied across wards, for example, 93% of respondents from Plymstock Dunstone agreed that they were proud of 

Plymouth’s place in history, whereas only 71% of respondents in Drake agreed (this could be due to the higher student population in Drake ward). Agreement with the 

second statement ranged from 47% to 69%. This second statement was broad so responses will not specifically relate to cultural events or things to do in the city, but are 

also likely to include, for example, employment opportunities. 

What needs to happen? In order to inform programmes of work around events, further research needs to be undertaken to determine why young people and 

people with disabilities were more likely to disagree. Given our public sector duty to encourage people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 

activities where their participation is disproportionately low, in 2019 we will undertake some customer analysis and research to ensure that we are reaching a broad 

audience. Whilst not impossible, this is particularly challenging and costly for un-ticketed events (the majority of our events). In the meantime, we will consult with a range 

of local disability groups and improve the accessibility of our events and associated marketing.

A vibrant cultural offer 
Residents’ view of Plymouth’s offer 

How have we done? 71.5% 

These questions were asked for the first time in the 2018 survey. The 

statements combined give a positive response score of 71.5%. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018: Baseline year 

A high level of agreement with the statements is desirable but no specific 

target has been set due to this being the first time that we have asked 

these questions of residents.  

Target rating: N/A 

86.0%

2.6% 11.4%

57.0%

20.9% 22.2%

71.5%

11.7% 16.8%

Agree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree/don't
know

Residents' view of Plymouth's offer (2018)

I am proud of Plymouths place in history Plymouth has a lot to offer Combined statements

P
age 27



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 20 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of people visiting our exhibitions, volunteering their time, visiting our sites, and taking part in our events, training programmes and 

other workshops. 

Why we measure it: Monitoring the number of people engaged with our cultural offer on a regular basis helps us to understand whether we are providing a 

relevant offer so that we can respond to the needs of Plymouth residents meaningfully. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Since the closure of the City Museum and Art Gallery two years ago, an ambitious community engagement programme (Box-on-Tour) has 

been underway to test out ideas, consult on designs and maintain existing audiences, as well as reach out to new audiences prior to the opening of The Box in Plymouth in 

April 2020. So far, the Box-on-Tour programme has engaged with 114,500 individuals alone during 2017/18 and is projected to reach a similar figure for 2018/19. 

What are we worried about? The City Museum and Art Gallery is currently closed as part of a major capital programme to transform it into a museum for the 

21st century, three times the size of the original museum. Similarly, the Elizabethan House is also closed whilst it undergoes a significant conservation and restoration 

programme that will reinvigorate its visitor offer. Both will open in 2020 as part of the Mayflower 400 celebrations, but there is a risk that audiences and future audiences 

will be lost whilst these works are underway unless we continue to develop and deliver a high profile and meaningful activity programme during this interim period.   

What needs to happen? We need to continue to develop and deliver a high profile activity programme, as well as continue to monitor and evaluate its impact, so 

that we respond to people’s needs on an ongoing basis.

A vibrant cultural offer 
Levels of cultural engagement 

114,500

2017/18

Number of people engaged in cultural activity
How have we done? 114,500 

2017/18 was the first year that we have collected this data and we 

therefore currently have no comparable data. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2017/18: Baseline year 

A high number of people engaged is desirable but no specific target has 

currently been set due to this being the first time that we have collected 

this data.  

Target rating: N/A 

P
age 28



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 21 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The amount of household waste that is recycled, reused or composted. This reports on quarter two 2018/19 as the latest available data. 

Why we measure it: Recycling helps to protect the environment and reduces the need for extracting, refining and processing raw materials. It also reduces 

greenhouse gas emissions, which helps to tackle climate change. This indicator allows us to assess the effectiveness of our attempts to increase recycling levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The Street Services Information Management System (SSIMS) project is underway and trials have been completed. The technology has been 

installed in 22 waste and recycling collection vehicles, which is providing us with timely and accurate access to recycling data. Recycling Officers have collated the 

information from the survey work that they have been undertaking and are continuing to target the areas where recycling facilities are not readily available and the areas 

where there is evidence of contamination of recyclables. 

What are we worried about? Despite being above the target, the percentage of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting in quarter two 

2018/19 was lower than in the same period last year. Although the tonnage of kerbside collected co-mingled recyclables has increased throughout quarter two, we were 

hoping to see a bigger increase. Back office systems and processes require updating and modernisation so that we can improve the delivery of frontline services for 

customers. The risk of non-delivery of the Plan for Waste is currently RAG-rated as amber on the strategic risk register, representing a medium risk to the Council.  

What needs to happen? A Modernisation Plan is in place across the Street Scene and Waste department. Through the implementation of SSIMS, improved data 

has been provided. The service now needs to understand how best to respond operationally in a planned and coordinated way.

A green sustainable city that cares about the environment 
Household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting 

How have we done? 40.6% 

Recycling, reuse and composting tonnages are on par with quarter 

one 2018/19. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 39.0% 

The sustained position in quarter two maintains performance at 1.6 

percentage points (4.1%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

38.8%
43.0%

32.5% 32.1%

40.6% 40.6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting

2017/18 2018/19 Target England

P
age 29



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 22 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The amount of carbon dioxide produced in Plymouth shown in tonnes per person (capita) per year. Carbon dioxide (CO2) is produced 

through the burning of fossil fuels, for example when we use electricity/gas to heat our homes or drive our cars. 

Why we measure it: Whilst CO2 is produced and used naturally, too much CO2 is bad for the environment. There is a worldwide focus on reducing CO2 

emissions to protect the environment and reducing emissions is key to our aim of becoming a green and sustainable city. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Plymouth is currently on track to achieve its Joint Local Plan target of a 50% CO2 emissions reduction (based on 2005 emissions of 6.0 

tonnes) by 2034 and has pledged to become a carbon neutral city by 2050. We have a range of successful sustainable transport, waste management and energy related 

policies and programmes that are supporting residents, businesses and community groups to reduce their carbon footprint.   

What are we worried about? Despite positive progress to date, achievement of the 2034 target remains a significant challenge. Per capita emissions are falling 

in line with the national trends for carbon being emitted from the generation of electricity (i.e. less coal, more wind, more solar), but as the Government’s Committee on 

Climate Change 2018 report highlights, there remain substantial short fallings in the national and local policy levers in transport, industry and housing. Without drastic 

changes in these areas, the 2034 target will not be achieved.  

What needs to happen? We need to continue to support simple low cost options for emissions reduction, such as new solar, improved energy efficiency of 

buildings, roll out of electric vehicles, and the development of low carbon heat networks in heat dense areas. We should also lobby Government to request an end to the 

chopping and changing of energy policy, which has driven investment away from the low carbon sector. We are currently finalising an action plan and associated staff 

resourcing to carry out a programme of energy and cost savings across the Council’s facilities management activities.

A green sustainable city that cares about the environment 
Carbon emissions 

How have we done? 3.6 tonnes 

Decrease of 0.3 tonnes of carbon emissions per capita from 2015, 

which is a decrease of 7.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2016: 4.8 tonnes 

The decrease in 2016 puts performance at 1.2 tonnes per person 

(25%) below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

4.9 4.7
4.0 3.9 3.6

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Carbon emissions per person (tonnes)

Target England

P
age 30

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/CCC-2018-Progress-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/CCC-2018-Progress-Report-to-Parliament.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 23 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

1,455 

765 

Gross 

additional 
homes 

delivered 

 

 

The pages in this section have given a detailed overview of the latest performance for the individual key performance indicators (KPIs) for the seven priorities of ‘A 

Growing City’. This is summarised below and more detail on each KPI is given in the corresponding pages of this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

A Growing City – Quarter Three Summary 

40.6% 40.6% 

Household 

waste sent for 
recycling, reuse 

or composting 71.5% 

Residents’ 
view of 

Plymouth’s 
offer 

42% 

40% 

Public 
satisfaction 
with traffic 

flow 

A clean and tidy 

city 

A green sustainable 

city that cares 
about the 

environment 

An efficient transport 

network 

A broad range of 

homes 

Economic growth that benefits as 

many people as possible  

Quality jobs and 

valuable skills 

A vibrant 

cultural offer 

29.1% 

26.0% 

Spend on 
small and 

medium 
enterprises 

£357.40 

£337.30 

Inclusive 

growth - 
earnings 

gap 

Inward 

investment 

Businesses 
supported 

90.0% 

89.9% 

Young 

people in 
Education, 

Employment 

or Training 

Jobs created 
by the 

Council 

114,500 

Levels of 
cultural 

engagement 

3.9 tonnes 

3.6 tonnes 

Level of 
carbon 

emissions 

97.8% 

97.6% 

Principal 
roads (A) 

in good or 
acceptable 
condition 

£162.952 

million 

2,018 direct / 

2,452 indirect 
832 

82% 

Cleanliness 

Index 
inspected 

areas 

judged as 
acceptable 

79% 

6 

7 

Number 

of events 

P
age 31



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 24 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

A Caring Council – Key Performance Indicators 

Improved schools where pupils achieve better 

outcomes 

1. Percentage of early years settings that have been judged as 

good or better by Ofsted 

2. Percentage of pupils attending a school judged as good or 

better by Ofsted 

3. Key Stage 4 pupils achieving the ‘basics’ 

 

Keep children, young people and adults 

protected 

1. Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) attributable to Adult 

Social Care 

2. Adult safeguarding enquiries 

3. Children with multiple child protection plans 

 

Focus on prevention and early intervention 

1. Repeat referrals to Children’s Social Care 

2. “Families with a Future” achieving outcomes 

3. Number of households prevented from becoming homeless 

4. Average number of households in bed and breakfast 

accommodation 

People feel safe in Plymouth 

1. Proportion of residents who feel safe 

2. Children in care 

3. Number of category one hazards removed 

4. Adult Social Care service users who feel safe and secure 

 

Reduce health inequalities 

1. Excess weight in 10-11 year olds 

2. Stop Smoking Service successful attempts 

3. Percentage of children enabled to become ‘school ready’ 

 

A welcoming city 

1. Percentage of residents who regularly do voluntary work 

2. Community cohesion 

3. Hate incidents reported to the Council 

 

P
age 32



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 25 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of Ofsted registered settings (schools, childminders, out-of-school and holiday clubs) judged as good or better.  

Why we measure it: Ofsted ratings give a view of the quality of Early Years education provision within the city. A higher quality standard of early education 

provision is an enabler to children being school ready and achieving better outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The local authority is providing ongoing support for settings that receive an Ofsted judgement of less than good. This quarter, two settings 

were judged as less than good and are receiving ongoing support. Following work with these settings, their Ofsted rating has gone from ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’. 

When looking at all of our early years settings and their current Ofsted ratings, we have 82% with a rating of good or outstanding.  

What are we worried about? We remain concerned about some of the increasing recruitment pressures on the childcare sector nationally and locally; the 

resource available from the local authority to provide support; and the decreasing numbers of childcare staff accessing training (due to the implementation of a full cost 

recovery model). This is affecting the quality of provision across the city. There are concerns about the issues with the Ofsted feed having an impact on the quality of 

previous and current data and the lack of robust benchmarking as a result. 

What needs to happen? Plans to offer new ways of delivering training and support are in place, such as through the pilot of the ‘Early Years Centre of 

Excellence’. The focus of some training will be targeted at staff who are new to the Early Years workforce.

Improved schools where pupils achieve better outcomes 
Percentage of early years settings that have been judged as good or better by Ofsted 

How have we done? 63% 

Increase of 11 percentage points from the previous report in 

quarter one, which is an increase of 20.8%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: Baseline year 

As this is a new indicator, performance this year will inform target 

setting for 2019/20. 

Target rating: N/A 

52.0% 52.0%

63.0%

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

% of early years settings judged good or better by Ofsted

Unable to 

report due to 

Ofsted data 

feed issues 

P
age 33



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 26 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of pupils that attend a school judged as good or better by Ofsted. 

Why we measure it: The Ofsted ratings give a view of the quality of education provision within the city. A higher quality standard of provision is an enabler to 

children achieving better outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? We continue to retain the expertise in the local authority school improvement system to provide support and challenge around improving 

outcomes to our maintained schools and to challenge the wider education system, which is supported by the Plymouth Education Board. In Plymouth, 100% of special 

schools in the city have been judged as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by Ofsted, which means that all pupils who require a special school education are in a good quality education 

setting, enabling them to achieve better outcomes. 

What are we worried about? Currently, 81.2% of primary schools (1.2 percentage point increase on previous quarter) and 47.1% of secondary schools (5.9 

percentage point decrease on previous quarter) are judged as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. Both remain lower than the latest available national averages (2016/17) of 90% and 

79% of primary and secondary schools, respectively. We remain concerned about the quality of education as judged by Ofsted as this can negatively affect the level of pupil 

attainment and damage reputation. The quality of school provision as judged by Ofsted is recorded as a red risk on the Council’s strategic risk register. The risk is being 

mitigated by working with all School Leaders and the Regional Schools Commissioner’s Office through the Plymouth Education Board. 

What needs to happen? A particular priority for the Plymouth Education Board is delivering the ‘Plymouth Challenge’, which is focused on secondary school 

provision. We have an outline action plan constructed around the three pillars of aspiration, standards and leadership. The Regional Schools Commissioner will be visiting 

Plymouth to talk to members of the Education and Social Care Scrutiny Committee to discuss the partnership approach to raising standards in the city.

Improved schools where pupils achieve better outcomes 
Percentage of pupils attending a school judged as good or better by Ofsted 

How have we done? 77.3% 

Increase of 3.3 percentage points from the previous snapshot at the 

end of quarter two, which is an increase of 4.5%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 86.7% 

The increase in quarter three puts performance at 9.4 percentage 

points (10.8%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

78.8% 84.0% 84.0%
74.9%71.9% 74.0%

77.3%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of pupils attending a school judged good or better by 
Ofsted

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 34



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 27 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Key Stage 4 pupils achieving a standard Attainment 8 pass (9-4) in English and Mathematics at the end of each academic year.  

Why we measure it: This gives an indication of the educational outcomes for young people once they reach the end of compulsory education, as well as indicating 

the quality of secondary education provision in the city. Higher attainment levels are an enabler to children achieving better long-term outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? In 2017/18, Key Stage 4 (KS4) provisional attainment data for pupils receiving Special Educational Needs (SEN) support or who had an 

Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) remains higher in Plymouth (18.8 point score) than the national figure (17 point score). Local attainment gaps for these pupils are 

also smaller than the national gaps. This demonstrates that work to ensure that some of our most vulnerable pupils in the city have the opportunity to achieve better 

outcomes has been effective. 

What are we worried about? Variation in the rate of progress being made by KS4 pupils across schools is a cause of concern, as is the percentage of secondary 

schools judged by Ofsted to be good or better, which is currently below the national average. We continue to see an increase in persistent absence and overall absence 

rates at secondary school. Pupil absence has been identified as a risk on the operational risk register for the Council. There is also considerable concern over the reducing 

levels of funding available for supporting pupils with high needs; funding in this area in particular is at crisis levels and impacting on broader budgets that are already under 

pressure, which is likely to impact on outcomes for children in schools.  

What needs to happen? The local authority, through the Plymouth Education Board, is driving the response to three priorities: disadvantage, oracy (spoken 

language skills) and the Plymouth Challenge. The Challenge is a co-ordinated approach to raising standards in our secondary schools. We have developed forums for Multi 

Academy Trust Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) and maintained schools in order to bring coherence to the improvement work and to challenge lack of pace or impact. We 

have also created a strategic relationship with the Regional Schools Commissioner’s Office in order to maximise the opportunities of joint resources.

Improved schools where pupils achieve better outcomes 
Key Stage 4 pupils achieving the ‘basics’ 

How have we done? 58.8% 

Decrease of 0.1 of a percentage point from the previous year. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017/18: 66% 

The provisional attainment reached in the academic year of 2017/18 

put performance at 7.2 percentage points (10.9%) below the target.   

Target rating: Amber 

58.9% 58.8%

2016/17 2017/18

% of pupils achieving a standard pass (9-4) in English and 
Maths at Key Stage 4 

Target England

P
age 35



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 28 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average daily number of delayed discharges within an acute or community hospital, presented as a rate per 100,000 population. This tells 

us the number of people who are still in hospital after they have been identified as fit for discharge, with the delay attributable to Adult Social Care (ASC).  

Why we measure it: It is a marker of the effective joint working of local partners, and a measure of the effectiveness of the interface between health and social 

care services. Reduced delayed transfers of care (DTOC) and enabling people to live independently at home are desired outcomes of social care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Following the Care Quality Commission (CQC) review of the health and social care system in December 2017, we have been delivering 

against our action plan. One outcome is to improve hospital flow and discharge and thus reduce delayed transfers of care and length of stay; the CQC have received an 

update on the progress of delivering this action plan as part of a monitoring exercise. Actions include the establishment of new escalation of care arrangements across 

health and social care systems and the daily review of long stay patients by integrated discharge teams. New processes for the management of patients with complex needs 

are working well at the hospital and the system has coped with the winter surge during quarter three much better than in 2017. 

What are we worried about? Although good performance continued in quarter three, the system is concerned about performance sustainability as we move 

through winter when we will likely see increases in demand and complexity. To mitigate this, detailed winter planning and capacity mapping has been undertaken and these 

plans are now active. 

What needs to happen? The System Improvement Board will continue to monitor system performance, including key system indicators on Accident and 

Emergency, length of stay and DTOC. We will continue to work with Livewell Southwest and University Hospitals Plymouth on how we can maintain improved 

performance in relation to DTOC and the reduction in long stays, as NHS England will be retaining focus on these two key system indicators.

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) attributable to Adult Social Care 

How have we done? 2.10 delays (per 100,000 population) 

The average daily number of delays decreased by 0.15 from the 

previous quarter, which is a decrease of 6.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 6.0 delays (per 100,000 population) 

The decrease in quarter three now puts performance at 3.90 delays per 

day per 100,000 population (65.0%) below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

10.41
11.90

10.50

5.70

2.32 2.25 2.10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Delayed transfers of care, attributable to Adult Social Care, 
per 100,000 population

2017/18 2018/19 Target England

P
age 36



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 29 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of safeguarding enquiries in which, at the point of completion, the individual affected or individual’s representative’s desired 

outcomes have been fully achieved. 

Why we measure it: Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is a sector-led initiative which aims to develop an outcome focus to safeguarding work and a range of 

responses to support people to improve or resolve their circumstances. This is an indication of how well we are achieving this outcome. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? In quarter three, 175 individuals were the subject of a completed safeguarding enquiry; 117 expressed a desired outcome at the start of the 

enquiry and in 81 of these cases, the desired outcome was fully achieved (69.2%) and in 32 cases, the outcome was partially achieved (27.4%). Overall, in 96.6% of cases, the 

desired outcome was either fully or partially achieved. 

What are we worried about? Although 96.6% of outcomes have been partially or fully achieved, we are concerned that the percentage of outcomes that have 

been fully achieved has dropped. Year to date our performance stands at 71.5% and is exceeding last year’s performance (69.6%); however we will continue to monitor. 

The individual nature of the outcomes can lead to fluctuating performance. 

What needs to happen? The effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, and related recording, is part of the next stage of work for the Plymouth Safeguarding 

Adults Board Quality and Performance sub group; performance against this indicator will be reviewed and inform specific practice guidance for frontline staff. We are 

working with social care partners to understand current practices around negotiating desired outcomes with alleged victims, and to revisit, via contract performance 

meetings and the strategic leads network, the importance of recording information accurately. Regular scrutiny on the delivery of our Safeguarding Improvement Plan 

assures us that we are fulfilling our statutory responsibilities and prioritising performance.

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Adult safeguarding enquiries 

How have we done? 69.2% 

Decrease of 1.4 percentage points from the previous quarter, 

which is a decrease of 2.0%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 75%  

The decrease in quarter three now puts performance at 5.8 

percentage points (7.7%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

69.0% 70.0% 70.0% 69.0%

74.0%
70.6% 69.2%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of closed safeguarding enquiries where the individual or individual's 
representatives desired outcomes have been fully achieved

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 37



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 30 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of children starting a child protection plan that have previously been on a child protection plan. 

Why we measure it: This indicator gives insight into children who have previously been deemed at significant risk of harm, had that risk mitigated and then later 

are again found to be at significant risk. This may be for the same or different reasons but highlights vulnerable children where a risk of harm has escalated back to the point 

where a child protection plan is once again needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? At the end of quarter three, 23.9% of children were subject to multiple plans, which was a 0.9 percentage point increase on quarter two. 

However, the number of children on a plan reduced by 21 to 259 (a rate of 49.4 per 10,000 children). Completion of visits on time continues to see a marked improvement 

and reached 93.8% in December (11.8 percentage points higher than at the end of 2017/18), which is above the 90% target. 

What are we worried about? With a smaller number of children on a child protection plan, just a couple of previously known children going back onto a 

protection plan can make performance look inconsistent. This could worsen if the number of children on a plan continues to decrease. Those children who returned to the 

service in December have been audited to enable us to understand in detail what we could have done better to prevent their repeat need. The audit highlighted that these 

children presented with the same underlying issues as previously and that step down/out work had not been effective at supporting progress made following a decrease in 

risk. Child protection visit performance is strong and currently rated as green against target (December 2018), but performance is inconsistent. 

What needs to happen? Work to get a better understanding of the root causes or themes behind repeat child protection plans needs to continue. Although 

performance around visits for children on a child protection plan is generally strong, it can be inconsistent; colleagues therefore need to tighten up processes around the 

visits further to bring more consistency in performance. The Ofsted Improvement Plan is to be finalised and provided to Ofsted by mid-March.

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Children with multiple child protection plans 

How have we done? 23.9% 

Increase of 0.9 of a percentage point from the previous quarter, which is 

an increase of 3.9%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 23.0% 

The increase in quarter three now puts performance 0.9 of a percentage 

point above the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

23.1%
25.4% 25.2%

26.8%
24.6%

23.0% 23.9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of children subject to multiple child protection plans

2017/18 2018/19 Target Statistical Neighbour (2017/18)

P
age 38



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 31 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of referrals to Children's Social Care where there has been a referral within the previous 12 months for the same child. 

Why we measure it: This gives insight into the effectiveness of the Children’s Social Care response to concerns about children at first referral. Repeat referrals 

may have been avoidable if we reached effective outcomes earlier, indicating that the child may not have received the right support at the right time to safeguard them and 

address their needs. As repeat referrals are essentially re-work, they bring additional costs that could have been avoidable. It should be noted therefore that this indicator 

reflects historic as well as current practice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? From July 2018 onwards, the total number of referrals to Children’s Social Care has been less than the same period in 2017/18. If this trend 

continues for the rest of 2018/19, we will have received fewer referrals than 2017/18. With improved management oversight and a more consistent application of 

thresholds embedding within the Plymouth Children’s Gateway, December saw a lower percentage of contacts moving onto referrals (51.2%), indicating that the right 

contacts are being progressed. 

What are we worried about? Repeat referrals continue to remain high and are currently nine percentage points above our statistical neighbour (23.9% at the 

end of 2017/18). Whilst we have seen a decrease in the percentage of re-referrals (now at 32.9%), improvement to date has been slow and further work is needed to 

understand the root causes for these. The failure to maintain appropriate Children’s Social Care caseloads is an operational risk for the Council. 

What needs to happen? We need to embed a consistent application of thresholds to contacts and referrals, support partners in holding appropriate levels of risk, 

and provide families with early help. We need to continue work in respect of the offer given when we step down or end our support (step out), with the aim of ensuring 

the right sustainable (SMART) outcomes are reached in order to prevent children and families from representing for a statutory response.

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Repeat referrals to Children’s Social Care 

How have we done? 32.9% 

Decrease of 0.4 of a percentage point from the previous quarter, 

which is a decrease of 1.2%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 25% 

The decrease in quarter three now puts performance at 7.9 

percentage points (31.6%) above the target. 

Target rating: Red 

31.2%
27.7% 28.2% 28.6%

32.1% 33.3% 32.9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Repeat referrals to Children’s Social Care

2017/18 2018/19 Target Statistical Neighbour (2017/18)

P
age 39



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 32 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of families in a quarter where we are able to evidence that we have achieved significant and sustained progress against specified 

concerns or a pathway into employment. Families must have at least two of the six headline criteria to be eligible for the programme.  

Why we measure it: This helps us to understand how many families we have worked with, both within Children, Young People and Family Services and across the 

multi-agency partnership. We support families to overcome a variety of problems, such as youth offending/anti-social behaviour, attendance at school, child safety (Child 

Protection/Children in Need), worklessness, domestic abuse, and mental and physical health issues. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Year to date performance remains above the target by 24 families (3.3%), despite the significant increase in targets following a visit from the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MCHLG) in April. Improvements in data collection, partnership working and sustained management focus have 

delivered significant and sustained improvements, which have been recognised by the MCHLG during a positive spot check visit in November. 

What are we worried about? We are concerned about the impact of the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on partner agencies sharing 

evidence of families who have met the success criteria. There is also a risk to vulnerable children, young people and families by not delivering early intervention, prevention 

or quickly responding to their needs. This is rated as an amber (medium) risk on the Council’s strategic risk register. Failure to meet the targets for attachments and 

claims would have a significant financial impact. 

What needs to happen? We need to continue to drive forward transformational change across the partnership in relation to whole family working, engagement 

with the Early Help Assessment Tool process, data exchange, and achieving the outcomes required within the Troubled Families Outcomes Plan. In particular, we need to 

continue to meet our targets’ trajectory for identifying families and setting targets for our partners as part of this work. The Ofsted Improvement Plan is to be finalised and 

provided to Ofsted by mid-March.

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
“Families with a Future” achieving outcomes 

How have we done? 744 (237 in quarter three)  

The number of families classified as achieving significant change in 

quarter three (237) saw a decrease of one family when compared 

to quarter two.  

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 720 (year to date) 

We are currently 24 families (3.3%) above the target for the year to 

date.  

Target rating: Green 

13 21 31 123
269

507

744

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

“Families with a Future” achieving outcomes

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 40



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 33 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of households that the Council has either helped to stay in their current accommodation or has supported to relocate, preventing 

them from becoming homeless.  

Why we measure it: Local authorities have a statutory duty to help all households that are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. These families and 

individuals are among the most vulnerable in society and we want to make sure that as many as possible get the help that they need. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The reconfiguration of staffing and a new IT system to support best delivery of the changes brought about by the Homelessness Reduction 

Act 2017 (HRA) in April 2018 are now better embedded within Community Connections, enabling us to work with IT providers to understand the performance reporting 

that we require to best demonstrate the work that is being done across the city. In quarter three 2018/19, 67 households were prevented from becoming homeless and 87 

households were relieved of their homelessness, totalling 154 households. Since the implementation of the HRA, there have been a further 140 approaches to the service 

where homelessness was prevented before an application was made to move the household into the prevention category; these are not counted in the prevention figures. 

What are we worried about? The 2018 single-night snapshot of rough sleepers was undertaken in November and found 23 people to be sleeping rough in 

Plymouth (19 males, 4 females), which is an 11.5% decrease on the 2017 count (26). The implementation of the HRA has significantly changed the duties on the Council and 

the way that the data is collated; since 1 October 2018, a number of public bodies have a ‘Duty to Refer’ to the local authority where there is a belief that an individual is 

threatened with or actually homeless. A duty is then on the local authority to make contact with the individual. Homelessness is associated with the operational risk of 

emergency accommodation bed and breakfast budget overspends, leading to a failure to support people who are made homeless.  

What needs to happen? We have utilised Burdens Funding to increase capacity and change service delivery in line with the HRA requirements, and are working 

with commissioners and partners to ensure that all prevention activity can be captured. Work is ongoing to understand where homelessness is most of a risk and provide 

early intervention measures. Some of the earliest interventions and preventions are being delivered prior to reporting requirements and we need to ensure that this is also 

captured to fully understand prevention activity across the city. 

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Number of households prevented from becoming homeless 

How have we done? 154 

Increase of 89 households prevented from becoming homeless 

from quarter two 2018/19, which is an increase of 136.9%.  

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: Baseline year 

This year will act as a baseline to inform target setting for 2019/20. 

Target rating: N/A 

127

65

154

Q1 Q2 Q3

Number of households prevented from becoming homeless

P
age 41

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/775089/Rough_Sleeping_Statistics_2018.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 34 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average number of households that are staying in bed and breakfast (B&B) temporary accommodation at any one time. A household is 

defined as one person living alone, or a group of people living at the same address who share common housekeeping or a living room. 

Why we measure it: B&Bs are used as a form of temporary accommodation to meet statutory duties to accommodate homeless households while an assessment 

of the full duty to them under homeless legislation is made. However, it is not suitable for more than a short period of time for most households and is expensive for the 

Council to fund. The aim is therefore to reduce the use of B&Bs and find alternative accommodation options for people sooner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? There has been a significant 19.8% decrease in the average number of households in B&Bs in quarter three (43.86) compared to quarter 

two (54.68). Within quarter three there was a month-on-month decrease, from 48.97 households in October to 39.90 in December. Work has been undertaken with 

partners to identify alternative accommodation solutions, and with those in B&Bs to understand what the requirements are to enable them to move into alternative 

temporary or permanent accommodation more quickly, which is going some way to supporting the downward trend. 

What are we worried about? There have been 587 applications taken in quarter three; previously, reported numbers were higher as a result of the new IT 

system double-reporting on cases. Whilst the number of households requiring temporary accommodation is not reducing, we are also experiencing more complex cases. 

Additionally, two of our commissioned accommodation providers within the complex lives system have recently announced the closure of buildings and this means that by 

31 March, housing solutions need to be sought for up to 90 individuals. We are working closely with the complex lives system to identify move on options and alternative 

solutions. There is a risk that there may not be a complete solution found within the challenging timescales and this could impact on the B&B budget. Homelessness is 

associated with the operational risk of emergency accommodation B&B budget overspends leading to a failure to support people who are made homeless. 

What needs to happen? We have reconfigured some of the duties across the service to best meet need and support earliest move on opportunities. As we 

move towards the Alliance commissioning of the Complex Needs Pathway in April 2019, extensive work with partners is being undertaken to understand and further 

develop the types of temporary accommodation available to ensure that it can meet the needs of the most vulnerable and complex without utilising B&Bs.

How have we done? 43.86 

10.82 fewer households were housed in B&Bs in quarter three than 

in the previous quarter, which is a decrease of 19.8%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 33.00 

The decrease in quarter three puts performance at 10.86 

households (32.9%) above the target. 

Target rating: Red 

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Average number of households in bed and breakfast accommodation 

57.90
53.32

57.35

46.20

55.95 54.68

43.86

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Average number of households in bed and breakfast 
accommodation

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 42



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 35 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who feel fairly safe or very safe when outside in their local area during the day and after 

dark. The data is comparable with that sourced from the 2014 Wellbeing Survey as the questions were identical. 

Why we measure it: Public perception of the safety of their local area can influence local policy decisions, planning, and the allocation of police resources. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? In 2018, 90% of residents who completed the Plymouth City Survey felt safe outside in their local area during the day, with only 3% feeling 

either fairly or very unsafe. This is a small increase on the 2014 Wellbeing Survey. Across the wards in Plymouth, the proportion feeling safe ranged from 83% to 97%. 

What are we worried about? As expected, the proportion of residents who feel safe after dark is lower than during the day at 60%, with 22% of survey 

respondents feeling unsafe. Only 35% of residents aged 16-24 years felt safe after dark, while 47% of this group felt unsafe, which was significantly more than any other age 

group. This indicator is associated with the risk of a Police and Crime Commissioner funding cut. 

What needs to happen? The information from this survey will be considered by the Community Safety Partnership and used to inform and support future 

partnership work to help the communities and groups that are most in need. We are working with communities and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

(OPCC) to look at opportunities to improve CCTV coverage in some neighbourhoods in the city, which may help to improve residents’ perception of safety.

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Proportion of residents who feel safe 

How have we done? 90% day / 60% after dark 

During the day: Increase of 2 percentage points from the 2014 

Wellbeing Survey, which is an increase of 2.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

After dark: Decrease of 1 percentage point from the 2014 

Wellbeing Survey, which is a decrease of 1.6%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018: Trend increase 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for these 

questions in the Plymouth City Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

89% 88% 90%

58% 61% 60%

2012 2014 2018

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who feel safe 
outside in their local area

During the day After dark

P
age 43



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 36 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: When a child (or young person) is made the subject of a care order, we have legal responsibility for them. We count a child as a child in care if 

they get accommodation for a continuous period of more than 24 hours, is subject to a care order or is subject to a placement order (up for adoption). To enable 

comparison against other authorities we report the number of children as a rate per 10,000 children within our authority’s population. 

Why we measure it: This indicator helps us to quantify how many children and young people we have a corporate parenting responsibility for and assists us to 

forecast our resource requirements (e.g. areas including staffing, accommodation and finance). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? The rate of children per 10,000 has decreased to 79.0 at the end of quarter three (414 children), which is below the statistical neighbour 

rate of 87.9. During quarter three, improvements have been seen in both short-term stability (those who are not in stable placements) moving from 13.2% down to 11.4%, 

and long term placement stability (those who are in stable placements) moving up from 55.9% to 65.2%. Health and Wellbeing Checks have also been brought up to date 

(i.e. initial health, annual health, dental, optical, and immunisations) and have all seen increases over quarter three. 

What are we worried about? Placement costs create a significant pressure on our service’s budget. In the past three years, the increased complexity and, as 

noted by Ofsted in the recent inspection, challenges with sufficiency of in-house fostering have contributed to increases in the number of children in independent foster 

care and residential care (13 and 52 percentage point increases, respectively). The cost of the care is particularly high due to the level of support needed to keep young 

people safe, such as specialist residential care placements with high levels of staffing. A small number of very costly care packages are the result of Court of Protection 

orders that place a duty on the Council to provide specialist care. The current pressures (including budgetary) are rated as red (high) on the strategic risk register. 

What needs to happen? We will continue to work with commissioning colleagues to develop placement sufficiency and to review placements through the 

fortnightly ‘placement challenge and review’ to ensure that care planning is timely and cost effective wherever possible. Where we can we will also maximise financial 

contributions from partners. The ‘Looked After Children’ and ‘Placement Stability’ Strategies will underpin this work. The Ofsted Improvement Plan is to be finalised and 

provided to Ofsted by mid-March.

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Children in care  

How have we done? 79.0 (rate per 10,000) 

A decrease of 1.9 from quarter two 2018/19 – this relates to 414 

children in care in quarter three 2018/19, which is 10 fewer than 

the previous quarter. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: Trend decrease 

Whilst a decrease is desirable, it is not appropriate for us to set a 

target for the number of children that we provide care for. 

Target rating: N/A 

73.7
76.3

78.4
80.0

82.4
80.9

79.0

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of children in care (rate per 10,000)

2017/18 2018/19 Stastical Neighbour (2017/18)

P
age 44



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 37 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of category one hazards removed from private rented properties by the Council. A category one hazard is a hazard that is a 

serious risk to a person’s health and safety. 

Why we measure it: This tells us the amount of activity done by the Council to remove these serious hazards and to improve the safety of private rented housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Essential training has been ongoing for staff in preparation for legislative change to Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) licensing, which 

was implemented in October 2018. During quarter three, the number of category one hazards removed increased from 18 to 51, giving a total year to date number of 117. 

In addition to the increase of category ones removed, training to staff has been more targeted, resulting in 399 dwellings being improved by the team during quarter three. 

This includes other works that have been identified to support housing improvement by the team, for example 25 category two hazards (78.6% increase), 58 HMO 

management regulation breaches (346.2% increase), and two statutory nuisances were all removed. During this quarter, there were also in excess of 120 properties 

inspected. 

What are we worried about? The continual requirements for staff training on matters relating to the extension of the HMO licensing scheme, Housing 

Improvement Policy and Civil Penalties Policy means that we need to continually review demand patterns and capacity when programming training to ensure that we are 

striving for best quality service delivery with a targeted focus.    

What needs to happen? We need to ensure that all training to the team is delivered professionally and with the greatest impact wherever possible. In addition to 

this, targets should be set to a wider metric with a focus on the dwellings that we have improved and made safer. This will include category one hazards, as well as a range 

of other activities carried out by the team with the aim of improving the quality and safety of people’s homes.

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Number of category one hazards removed 

How have we done? 51 

33 more category one hazards were removed in quarter three 

2018/19 than in quarter two, which is an increase of 183.3%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 243 (annual) 

The increase puts performance at 10 hazards (16.4%) below the 

quarter three target of 61 (yearly target of 243÷4). 

Target rating: Red 

37

18

50 5048

18

51

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of category 1 hazards removed

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 45



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 38 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The proportion of people who use Adult Social Care services who say that those services make them feel safe and secure, as measured using 

the annual Statutory Adult Social Care Survey. 

Why we measure it: Safety is fundamental to the wellbeing and independence of people using social care, and the wider population. Feeling safe is a vital part of 

users’ experience of their care and support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? During quarter three, nearly 1,700 Health and Social Care Assessments and plans were completed by either Livewell Southwest (as part of 

the social care contract) or by the Plymouth Guild (as part of the carers contract). We have also undertaken in excess of 1,000 care package reviews during this period and 

completed 206 safeguarding enquiries. We monitor activity through regular contract performance meetings with our providers. Throughout the past four years, the 

proportion of Plymouth’s Adult Social Care service users who feel safe has been consistently higher than the England average. During quarter four, we will be sending out 

the 2019 Adult Social Care Survey and we will be able to report the results in quarter one of 2019/20. 

What are we worried about? Demand placed on Adult Social Care and care providers can cause delays in providing services for adults with care and support 

needs, which is an operational risk. The above activity contributes to ensuring that as an organisation working in partnership with our providers across the city, we work to 

meet our commitment to keep people safe.  

What needs to happen? We will continue to monitor social care and safeguarding activity via provider performance and assurance meetings. This national 

indicator allows us to benchmark the impact that our services have on people’s feelings of safety. Therefore, we will continue to monitor how we benchmark against 

national, regional and comparator local authorities.

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Proportion of Adult Social Care service users who feel safe  

How have we done? 90.1% 

Decrease of 2.7 percentage points from the previous year, which is 

a decrease of 2.9%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017/18: 93.0% 

The decrease in 2017/18 put performance at 2.9 percentage points 

(3.1%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

93.0% 93.0% 92.8%

90.1%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

% of people who use Adult Social Care services who say that 
those services make them feel safe and secure

Target England

P
age 46



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 39 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The prevalence of excess weight (including obesity) among children in Year 6 (aged 10 – 11 years old). 

Why we measure it: Excess weight in childhood is a key risk factor for obesity and its associated illnesses in adulthood, as well as potentially having a negative 

impact on children’s physical and mental health.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? We are working on giving children the best start in life, making schools health-promoting environments, managing the area around schools 

through fast food planning policy, and working with partners to raise awareness of the risk factors of unhealthy diets and physical inactivity through Thrive Plymouth. Year 5 

of Thrive Plymouth launched on 16 October 2018 and is focused on People Connecting through Food. Over the coming year, the Public Health team will be focusing their 

efforts across six themes of the Sustainable Food Cities award. This includes promoting healthy eating and healthy weight through a range of initiatives, such as Sugar Smart, 

and working with our community and voluntary sector to tackle food poverty in the city.  

What are we worried about? Though levels are lower than England for Year 6, even these levels are too high. Childhood obesity is closely linked to 

deprivation and therefore is a strong indicator of inequality. Being overweight and obese in childhood is a risk factor for overweight and obesity in adulthood and increased 

risk of diseases, such as Type II Diabetes, cancers, and cardiovascular diseases. 

What needs to happen? There is a lack of a firm evidence base on the best interventions to put into place to support families where children have excess weight; 

we are working on developing the current programme to improve outcomes. We will be taking a range of actions to deliver on our priorities for Thrive Plymouth Year 5, 

as well as working to increase physical activity levels amongst children and young people through our Physical Activity Network.

Reduce health inequalities 
Excess weight in 10-11 year olds 

How have we done? 33.2% 

Increase of 1.5 percentage points from the previous year, which is an 

increase of 4.7%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017/18: 34.2% 

The increase in 2017/18 puts performance at 1 percentage point 

(2.9%) below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

31.6%
29.6%

31.7% 33.2%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Child excess weight in 10-11 year olds

England Target

P
age 47



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 40 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of people who engage with the Stop Smoking service and set a quit date, with successful quit attempts measured at four weeks. 

This reports on quarter two 2018/19 as the latest available data. 

Why we measure it: Smoking is the leading cause of preventable ill health and premature mortality in the UK. Smoking is a major risk factor for many diseases, 

such as lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart disease. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Numbers seen by the service each year are dropping, which is in line with expectation – a combination of smoking prevalence reducing and 

remaining smokers being harder to reach. In quarter two, 374 people accessed the service and set a quit date, with 155 successfully quitting smoking; this is a success rate 

of 41.4%. We provide smoking cessation interventions through GPs, pharmacies and specialist services and train staff in ‘making every contact count’ (MECC), helping them 

to signpost people into services. 

What are we worried about? Smoking prevalence in Plymouth is significantly higher than the England average. People who smoke tend to be those with 

complex issues and are ‘hard to reach’, which presents a challenge and we are working to change our approaches to ensure that we engage with people and work with 

them in a way that works for them. This includes a harm reduction approach and making people aware of the benefits of vaping over smoking tobacco, if they are not yet 

ready to make a full smoking quit attempt. 

What needs to happen? Continue to invest in the services and roll out MECC to ensure that as many brief interventions take place as possible that encourage 

people to stop smoking and support them in doing so. Continue to focus our resources on those with the most complex support needs, and continue to work with 

University Hospitals Plymouth to embed MECC within their organisation. Continue to take a system approach to tobacco control so that action takes place to disrupt and 

minimise the supply of illegal and illicit tobacco in the city, and to ensure that tobacco sales are appropriately restricted by age and advertising restrictions are adhered to.

Reduce health inequalities 
Stop Smoking Service successful quit attempts 

How have we done? 41.4% 

Decrease of 4.7 percentage points from the previous quarter, 

which is a decrease of 10.2%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 35.0% 

The decrease in quarter two puts performance at 6.4 percentage 

points (18.3%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

39.9% 40.5%
37.6%

45.0%46.1%
41.4%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of people accessing the Stop Smoking service who have 
quit

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 48



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 41 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) pupils who achieve a Good Level of Development (GLD) at the end of each 

academic year. 

Why we measure it: The Early Years Foundation Stage profile promotes teaching and learning to enable children’s ‘school readiness’ and gives children the broad 

range of knowledge and skills that provide the foundation for good future progress through school and life. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The percentage of pupils achieving a good level of development at EYFSP continues to improve. A Leaders and Managers meeting is 

provided with the support required to enable settings and schools to access policy changes, advice and key messages. The moderation process for the EYFSP, implemented 

by the Early Years Team, is well established and ensures that data is robust. This process is also externally moderated by the Standards Testing Agency. 

What are we worried about? In 2018, the gap between those eligible for free school meals (FSM) and all other pupils is 24 percentage points. In 2017, the gap 

was 20 percentage points; therefore the gap has grown by four percentage points. Other vulnerable groups that remain a concern are female pupils eligible for FSM, and 

summer-born boys. Throughout quarter three, the Maternity and Early Years System Optimisation Group (MEYSOG) launched a scoping survey and this was sent to all 

Early Years providers to consult on ‘school readiness’. Only six responses to the survey were received, which is a concern. There is growing pressure on budgets across all 

stages of education with specific concern over high needs funding, which is creating a risk in the system that current support may not continue to be sustainable. This will 

almost certainly impact on school readiness, in particular for those that require more high need support. 

What needs to happen? The Early Years Advisory Teachers (EYAT) need to continue to engage with all Early Years providers to provide support, challenge and 

professional development to ensure quality provision, with a focus on addressing the general FSM attainment gap, girls eligible for FSM and summer-born boys. The deadline 

for consultation with Early Years providers has been extended and workshops with providers have been organised to increase engagement. The EYAT needs to continue to 

maintain effective relationships with the Maternity and Early Years System Optimisation Group to support the school readiness agenda. 

Reduce health inequalities 
Percentage of children enabled to become ‘school ready’ 

How have we done? 68% 

Increase of 2 percentage points (3.0%) from the previous year. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018: 67% 

Performance in 2017/18 is 1 percentage point (1.5%) above the 

target. 

Target rating: Green 

62.6% 64.0%
66.0%

68.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018

% of pupils achieving a Good Level of Development in the 
EYFSP

Plymouth Target England

P
age 49



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 42 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who volunteer or help out in the city, which includes formal volunteering (e.g. for a 

charity or community group) or informal helping out (e.g. a neighbour). 

Why we measure it: Cities of Service is a volunteer work programme with the aim of increasing the number of volunteers, who volunteer at least once a month, 

by 1% per year for the next five years. This question helps to monitor the outcomes of this programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The Mayflower Makers volunteer training programme has now trained over 120 people to become Mayflower Ambassadors in their 

community and/or workplace. The Our Plymouth online social action platform, which promotes volunteering and community participation, started beta testing in 

December 2018 with a view to it going live in March 2019. The Mayflower Sparks Community Fund (first round) closed in October 2018 and funded 13 different projects; 

the second round is now open and will finish in February 2019. The projects receiving money from this fund are anticipated to need a large number of volunteers in 

Plymouth from communities of interest, identity and geography. We have been awarded £10,000 by the Cooperative Council Innovation Fund to promote the Cities of 

Service model to the 24 members of the network.    

What are we worried about? Our current contract with Improving Lives Plymouth to deliver and coordinate the Mayflower volunteering requirement ends in 

March 2019 and we are considering our options for delivery from April 2019. We also need to ensure that as many residents use Our Plymouth as possible when it goes 

live in March 2019. There is a communications plan and a dedicated worker to ensure that this happens. 

What needs to happen? We need to continue to deliver the Mayflower Makers volunteering programme to meet the requirements of training a minimum of 400 

volunteers by November 2019 and we need to ensure that Our Plymouth gets the required footfall to make it viable and successful.

A welcoming city 
Percentage of residents who regularly do voluntary work 

How have we done? 23.4% 

23.4% of residents volunteer at least once per month. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018: Baseline year 

A high percentage of residents volunteering is desirable but no 

specific target has been set due to this being the first time that we 

have asked this question of residents.  

Target rating: N/A 

43.0%

23.4%

Volunteer or help out total Volunteer or help out at least once a
month

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who volunteer 
(2018)

P
age 50



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 43 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who agreed with the statement ‘my local area is a place where people from different 

backgrounds get on well together’. 

Why we measure it: This question gives a measure of community cohesion within Plymouth and assesses performance against the statutory equality objective to 

increase the number of people who think that people from different backgrounds get on well together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Only 15% of respondents disagreed that their local area is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well together. This is 

because more than 1,000 of the 2,258 people who answered this question responded with ‘neither agree nor disagree’ or ‘don’t know’. When these responses are 

removed from the data set, 72% of the remaining 1,234 respondents agreed with the statement. An equality objective to improve the cohesion rates in Plymouth’s four 

least cohesive wards was set in 2016 and all four either maintained or improved on their score from the 2014 survey. 

What are we worried about? The 2018 Plymouth City Survey score of 39% is significantly below that seen for the same question in the 2014 Wellbeing Survey 

and 15 of the 20 wards in Plymouth saw a decrease in their cohesion score in 2018. Younger people aged 16 to 34 years and those aged 45 to 64 years are less likely to 

agree that people from different backgrounds get on well together in their areas. 

What needs to happen? The results from this question in the survey will be used to measure performance against the statutory equality objective to increase the 

number of people who believe that people from different backgrounds get on well together. The data is being used to inform city-wide activities that promote cohesion, 

including the development of a bid for future funding, with activity focused on those wards where fewer respondents felt that people from different backgrounds got on 

well together. 

A welcoming city 
Community cohesion 

How have we done? 39% 

Decrease of 10 percentage points from the 2014 Wellbeing Survey, 

which is a decrease of 20.4%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018: Trend increase 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for these 

questions in the Plymouth City Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

49%

39%

2014 2018

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who think their local area 
is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well 

together

P
age 51



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 44 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number and type of hate incidents reported to officers of the Council via the internet, telephone, face-to-face, or from an external agency, 

for example Stop Hate UK. These reports usually cannot be classified as crimes and reported to the Police. The hate (or discriminatory) incidents can be due to the 

following characteristics: 1) disability; 2) faith, religion and belief; 3) sexuality; 4) race; and 5) gender. 

Why we measure it: We want Plymouth to be a welcoming city where everyone feels safe, respected, and free from abuse and discrimination. Not all incidents 

are crimes but can still have a negative effect on the victim/s. Plymouth City Council offers an avenue for people to report incidents and takes steps to address the 

situations to discourage repeats of discriminatory behaviours. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? The Community Connections team has reviewed the approach to hate incidents across the city to ensure that incidents are directly linked 

to a report by a citizen, which means that the number of incidents has declined and is not comparable to 2016/17. This is with a view to giving a greater voice to victims and 

improving community cohesion, early intervention and appropriate enforcement. To further achieve this, we have implemented measures to increase awareness and 

accessibility of reporting – staff have become Third Party Reporters in order to support vulnerable victims. We have also joined the Devon and Cornwall Police pledge of 

Zero Tolerance to Hate, supporting this approach to tackling hate crime and incidents. 

What are we worried about? There were 468 hate crimes recorded by the Police in 2017/18, which was an increase of 82 from the previous year. The 

majority of reports for the Police (67%) and Council (63%) were linked to race. This is a similar picture to 2016/17. There is also uncertainty regarding Brexit and any 

potential impacts that this may have on hate crimes and incidents. 

What needs to happen? We need to continue to work with partners to review the information available from local data and reporting, as well as national 

influencing factors to ensure that specific issues or trends are identified and prevention measures considered, where possible. A bid for future funding, if successful, will 

support reducing the percentage of race-related hate incidents.

A welcoming city 
Hate incidents reported to the Council 

How have we done? 35 

The data is not comparable to 2016/17 due to a change in reporting 

criteria. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target rating: N/A 

109

35

2016/17 2017/18

Number of hate incidents reported to Plymouth City 
Council

P
age 52



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 45 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

51

50 

18 

Category 
one hazards 

removed 

80.9 

79.0 

Children in 
care 

49% 

39% 

Residents 

who think 
people from 

different 

backgrounds 

get on well 

92.8% 

90.1% 

Adult Social 
Care 

service 
users who 
feel safe 

and secure 

35 

Hate incidents 
reported to the 

Council 

23.4% 

Residents who 
regularly do 

voluntary work 

 

 

The pages in this section have given a detailed overview of the latest performance for the individual key performance indicators (KPIs) for the six priorities of ‘A Caring 

Council’. This is summarised below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.25 

2.10 

Delayed 
Transfers of 

Care 
attributable 

to Adult 

Social Care 

Keep children, young people and 

adults protected 

People feel safe in 

Plymouth 

A welcoming 

city 

70.6% 

69.2% 

Closed adult 

safeguarding 
enquiries 

with desired 
outcomes 

achieved 

90% 

88% 

Residents 
who feel 

safe 
(during the 

day) 

A Caring Council – Quarter Three Summary 

Improved schools where 

pupils achieve better 

outcomes 

Focus on prevention and 

early intervention 

Reduce health 

inequalities 46.1% 

41.4% 

Stop 

Smoking 
service 

successful 

quit 

attempts 

52% 

63% 

Early years 
settings 

judged as 

good or 
better by 

Ofsted 
77.3% 

74.0% 

Pupils 
attending 

schools 
judged as 
good or 

better by 
Ofsted 

Key Stage 

4 pupils 
achieving 

the ’basics’ 

58.9% 

58.8% 

238 

237 

“Families 
with a 

Future” 
achieving 

outcomes 

 54.68 

43.86 

Average 
number of 

households 
in a bed and 

breakfast 

33.2% 

31.7% 

Excess 
weight in 

10-11 year 

olds 

68.0% 

66.0% 

Children 
who are 
school 

ready 

23.9% 

23.0% 

Children 
with 

multiple 

child 
protection 

plans 

33.3% 

32.9% 

Repeat 
referrals to 

Children’s 
Social 
Care 

 154 

Households 
prevented 

from 
becoming 

homeless 

65 

P
age 53



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 46 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

How We Will Deliver – Key Performance Indicators 

Listening to our customers and communities 

1. Use of customer feedback for service improvement 

2. Residents who know how to get involved in decisions 

affecting their local area 

 

Providing quality public services 

1. Customer complaints resolved at first and second stage 

2. Statutory complaints completed within timescales 

3. Customer experience 

 

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 

1. Staff engagement 

2. Days lost due to staff sickness 

 

Spending money wisely 

1. Spend against budget 

2. Percentage of council tax collected 

3. Percentage of business rates collected 

 

A strong voice for Plymouth regionally and 

nationally 

1. Offers and Asks 

2. Regional influence 

 

P
age 54



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 47 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Staff Survey respondents who agree with the statement ‘my team uses customer feedback to improve our service’. 

Why we measure it: To reveal the extent to which customer feedback is used across services within the Council to inform and improve service delivery, so that 

residents of Plymouth receive the service from us that they need and expect.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? An online reporting tool has been launched, making data such as volume, outcome and compliance rates for customer feedback directly 

available to Feedback Coordinators, Performance Advisors and Service Directors. A review of quarter two feedback led to changes being made to back office processes 

where the highest levels of feedback are received, which enables better understanding of exactly what complaints are about and will be used at weekly performance 

meetings and to inform service improvements. Customer feedback is now also being actively used by several departmental management teams on a monthly basis to 

monitor performance and is being linked with other performance measures, such as service standards, to provide insight for improvement action. The 2018 Staff Survey was 

delivered in quarter three and preliminary results show a more positive response to this question. 

What are we worried about? The drop of 18 percentage points between 2016 and 2017, from 71% to 53%, is significant and puts us below the Local 

Government (LG) benchmark of 69% for the first time. Whilst the compliance rate for responding to customer feedback has increased from, on average, 75% in quarter 

one to 91% in quarter three, the upheld rate for complaints remains above 50%.  

What needs to happen? Further engagement with Feedback Coordinators and Investigating Officers is needed to ensure that the upheld reasons are understood 

clearly and are being used to inform lessons learned. A detailed review of Stage 2 complaints from quarter three will take place during quarterly feedback monitoring with 

Directorate Management Teams. Results from the 2018 Staff Survey have just been released and need to be analysed and understood. The results will be available in 

quarter four, along with initial analysis and actions being taken.

Listening to our customers and communities 
Use of customer feedback for service improvement 

How have we done? 53% 

Decrease of 18 percentage points from the previous survey in 

2016, which is a decrease of 25.4%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2017: Trend increase 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for this 

individual question in the Staff Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

72% 69% 71%

53%

2014 2015 2016 2017

% of staff who agree with the statement 'my team uses 
customer feedback to improve our service'

LG benchmark

P
age 55



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 48 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of 2018 Plymouth City Survey respondents who agreed with the statement ‘I know how to get involved in decisions that affect 

my local area’.  

Why we measure it: This question tells us the extent to which residents feel they are involved in decisions that affect their local area, which can inform the 

Council’s engagement activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? These results tell us that almost a third (30.76%) of respondents are aware of how they can get involved in decisions in their local area. 

Councillors have different ways to engage with residents in their wards, meaning that residents have direct access to their elected representative and the Council has an 

established mechanism for consulting on proposals, such as planning applications. We have recently introduced Facebook Live in addition to our regular webcasting of 

Council meetings, improving the accessibility of Council decision-making. A new residents’ e-newsletter is helping to promote consultations and surveys, which the Council 

uses to inform its policy-making (e.g. Plan for Trees; Crematorium consultation). 

What are we worried about? 38.4% disagreed with the statement, with a further 30.9% answering either ‘neither agree nor disagree’ or ‘don’t know’. More 

engagement is therefore needed to help residents understand how they can get involved in local decision making processes. In particular, younger age groups were less 

likely to agree that they know how to get involved, which correlates with the results of questions in the survey on awareness and involvement in local community activities 

and groups. 

What needs to happen? We are taking steps to improve support for Councillors’ visibility and accessibility within wards to help them reach more residents, 

including improvements to the way residents’ enquiries to Councillors are handled. We will also be actively promoting our residents’ e-newsletter, ensuring that links to 

consultations are included, as well as articles that highlight how residents can ask questions of the Council and/or their councillors.

Listening to our customers and communities 
Residents who know how to get involved in decisions affecting their local area 

How have we done? 30.8% 

A total of 30.8% either strongly agreed (6.3%) or tended to agree 

(24.5%). The question was changed for the 2018 survey and is not 

comparable to previous results. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018: Baseline year 

A high level of agreement with the statement is desirable but no 

specific target has been set due to this being the first time that we 

have asked this question of residents.  

Target rating: N/A 

30.8%

38.4%

30.9%

Agree Disagree Neither agree nor
disagree/don't know

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who know how to 
get involved in decisions affecting their local area

P
age 56



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 49 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The proportion of customer complaints that have been closed (resolved) within the timeframe of 10 working days. If customers are not happy 

with the response they receive to their complaint at Stage 1, they can submit the complaint again to be reviewed by a senior manager – this is known as a Stage 2 

complaint. 

Why we measure it: We want our customers to be satisfied with the service that they receive from us. However when we do receive a complaint, we will seek to 

resolve the issue quickly. Complaints are also used to inform future service delivery where lessons can be learned. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Although still below the target of 100%, the percentage of both Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints closed within the timeframe has increased in 

quarter three, showing an improving trend throughout 2018/19. The number of complaints received decreased from 2,090 in quarter two to 1,606 in quarter three, with 

the proportion progressing to Stage 2 also decreasing significantly, from 33.6% in quarter two to 17.2% in quarter three. This number of Stage 2 complaints received 

reduced from 703 in quarter two to just 277 in quarter three. 

What are we worried about? The majority (85.7%) of complaints received were for Street Services. Whilst 48.3% of the total complaints received in quarter 

three were upheld at Stage 1, this increased to 63.7% at Stage 2, which is a concern. However, the proportion upheld at both stages is lower than in quarter two. 

What needs to happen? Further engagement with Feedback Coordinators and Investigating Officers is needed to ensure that the upheld reasons are understood 

clearly and are being used to inform lessons learned. A detailed review of Stage 2 complaints from quarter three will take place during quarterly feedback monitoring with 

Directorate Management Teams. 

Providing quality public services 
Customer complaints resolved at first and second stage 

How have we done? 89.25% Stage 1 / 93.00% Stage 2 

Increase of 2.49 and 6.30 percentage points from quarter two 2018/19 for 

Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints, respectively. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 100%  

The increase in quarter three puts performance at 10.75 and 7.00 

percentage points below the target of 100% for Stage 1 and Stage 2 

complaints, respectively. 

Target rating: Amber 

74.65%
86.76% 89.25%

75.80%
86.70%

93.00%

Q1 Q2 Q3

% of Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints closed within 
timeframe

Stage 1 Stage 2 Target

P
age 57



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 50 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Children’s Social Care (CSC) complaints that are responded to within expected timescales (20 working days). Responses to 

CSC are dealt with solely by Plymouth City Council. 

Why we measure it: People accessing Children’s Social Care services are some of the most vulnerable people in the city. For this reason it is extremely important 

that we respond to complaints in a timely manner. This indicator allows us to assess how well we are performing in this area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? In quarter three, 15 Children’s Social Care complaints were received, which a considerable reduction on the 45 received in quarter two 

and the 24 received in quarter one. 

What are we worried about? In quarter three there were 27 complaints closed, eight (30%) of which were fully upheld and 12 (44%) were partially upheld; this 

represents a fault with the service response that we delivered in these cases. Reasons for complaints being upheld have been investigated on a case-by-case basis to 

establish any areas for change and future development. The decrease in the number of complaints received is a positive but the proportion of complaints that we close 

within the timeframe of 20 working days remains significantly below the target of 95% and declined significantly in quarter three. During quarter three just four (15%) of the 

27 complaints closed were done so within the expected timescales. 

What needs to happen? In response to the decline in recent performance, discussions have been held across the service to impress on staff the importance of a 

timely response. The service will be trialling a new approach in January, with the aim of improving our timeliness of responding to complaints. 

Providing quality public services 
Statutory complaints completed within timescales 

How have we done? 15% 

Decrease of 41 percentage points from quarter two 2018/19, which 

is a decrease of 73.2%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: 95%  

The decrease in quarter three now puts performance at 80 

percentage points (84.2%) below the target. 

Target rating: Red 

56%
45%

57%
50%

23%

56%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of Children's Social Care complaints closed within 
timeframe

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 58



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 51 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: A summary of performance against 10 key service standards from across the Council. Each service standard is assessed against its own target 

and a score is allocated. Scoring is based on 0 = red against target (greater than 15% away), 1 = amber (within 15% of target), or 2 = green (target achieved). The score is 

then displayed as a percentage of the total score available if all indicators were green.   

Why we measure it: Service standards let customers know how long it should take us to deliver a service, such as processing a housing benefit claim, planning 

application or picking up a missed bin. We have identified 10 key service standards to give a summary view of services across the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Five service standards achieved their target in quarter three, which relate to processing times for new housing benefit claims, Single 

Assessments in Children’s Social Care, response to noise nuisance reports, and two indictors for planning applications (major and minor). All services have refreshed their 

business plans and as part of that exercise have reviewed service standards to ensure that there are clear expectations of delivery across the Council. We have set up a 

Customer Experience Programme Board of Senior Managers to oversee a number of workstreams, which is designed to improve the way that we deliver and understand 

how customers experience our services. 

What are we worried about? There were two service standards reporting amber regarding visits to children in care and visits to children on a child protection 

plan. A further three indicators were red; these were processing times for housing benefit change of circumstances, missed bin reports, and street cleanliness reports. 

Overall there are more than 200 service standards across the Council and reporting against these standards is inconsistent, which presents a problem in checking that we 

are delivering a timely service.  

What needs to happen? Work is being undertaken to increase/improve reporting around service standards and to baseline delivery against them. Customer 

experience workstreams need to be further developed to work on improving our service to customers.   

How have we done? 70.0% 

Increase of 10 percentage points from quarter two 2018/19, which 

is an increase of 16.7% 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 100% 

The increase in quarter three puts performance at 30 percentage 

points below the target. 

Target rating: Red 

Providing quality public services 
Customer experience 

60.0% 60.0%
70.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3

% of key service standards achieving target

Target

P
age 59



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 52 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: Employees’ level of engagement and general satisfaction with working within their service. This is derived from a subset of questions from the 

annual Staff Survey. 

Why we measure it: We want our employees to be engaged as this is an indication of their happiness and wellbeing. Employees who are engaged are more 

motivated, committed and fulfilled with their work, and help to drive organisational productivity and better customer experience. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The staff engagement score for 2017 was 67%, which is three percentage points higher than the previous year and the highest that it has 

been since the survey was introduced in 2010. The 2018 survey was delivered in quarter three, with the final results due within quarter four. However, the initial analysis 

appears to show that the staff engagement score has again shown significant improvement. This suggests that staff are feeling more valued by their employer and more 

engaged with their work. The results of the 2018 Staff Survey are being reviewed and actions will be developed by individual services to address the feedback. 

What are we worried about? Whilst the full results are yet to be published, it would appear that the overall percentage of staff who have chosen to complete 

the 2018 survey has reduced from last year. Staff engagement is associated with the operational risk of ineffective employee relations. 

What needs to happen? Once the full 2018 Staff Survey results have been analysed, each directorate will be able to develop specific action plans to respond to 

the comments made. Following changes to the 2018 survey format, the results will enable recommendations to be made regarding the future of the survey in 2019.  

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 
Staff engagement 

How have we done? 67% 

Increase of 3 percentage points from the previous survey in 2016, 

which is an increase of 4.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2017: 65% 

The increase in 2017 puts performance at 2 percentage points 

(3.1%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

62%
61%

64% 64%

67%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Percentage of staff engaged

Target

P
age 60



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 53 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average number of days taken as sick leave per full-time equivalent employee, calculated as a rolling 12 month average. Sickness data 

includes days lost due to physical and mental ill-health, as well as injuries, and both short- and long-term sickness absences. 

Why we measure it: Sickness figures give an indication of the health and wellbeing of our workforce and enable managers to implement effective procedures to 

support the needs of employees. Any employee absence is also associated with a cost to the organisation, which needs to be monitored.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The sickness target varies across different services within the Council due to the nature of work that employees do, i.e. services that have a 

focus on physical labour will have higher sickness targets than those that consist of mainly desk-based roles. In order to support attendance, in quarter three we have 

continued to provide flu vouchers and clinics, as well as encouraged staff to attend a mental health first aid course, which was delivered by Livewell Southwest. The 

Wellbeing and Resilience Survey was delivered in quarter two and we have now analysed the results – triangulating these with results from the Safety Climate Survey and 

the Staff Survey 2017 – and shared them with the Corporate Management Team. 

What are we worried about? The increase to 7.55 days in quarter three put performance above the target of 7.40 days for Plymouth City Council as a whole. 

This figure gives an overall view of sickness absence and masks wide variations between different services within the Council, with sickness absence levels ranging from 1.44 

days to 12.75 days per full-time equivalent employee. The Health, Safety and Wellbeing risk register includes operational risks around staff exposure to physical ergonomics 

hazards (e.g. incorrect manual handling) and staff resilience to causative factors of stress, which can potentially have financial implications due to lost working days. 

What needs to happen? In quarter four, we will publish the results of the Wellbeing and Resilience Survey and work with departments to develop action plans in 

response to the three main themes of the results – demands, relationships and musculoskeletal. There will also be targeted work by Wellbeing Specialists in areas that have 

a higher sickness rate for stress and musculoskeletal reasons.

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 
Days lost due to staff sickness 

How have we done? 7.55 days 

Increase of 0.25 days from quarter two 2018/19, which is an 

increase of 3.4%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 7.40 days 

The increase in quarter three puts performance at 0.15 days (2.0%) 

above the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

6.73

7.05 7.15

7.72

7.20 7.30
7.55

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Average number of days taken as sick leave per full time 
equivalent employee (rolling 12 month average)

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 61



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 54 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The projected balance remaining against the budget at the end of the financial year, updated monthly.  

Why we measure it: The projection helps to forecast whether the financial position at the end of the year for the Council is likely to be an overspend or an 

underspend on the budget. By reviewing service expenditure and forecasts regularly throughout the year, the expected outturn helps to highlight where corrective actions 

might be required or possible in order to bring spend in line with the budget. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Despite remaining above the target of a balanced budget, the projected year end variation in the budget has decreased significantly since 

quarter two, reflecting the work that has been done to identify savings and address the forecasted overspend in quarter three. The overspend is concentrated within the 

People Directorate, meaning that the majority of services and directorates are spending in line with their budgets. Corporate Items (£1.478 million), the Place Directorate 

(£0.972 million), Finance (£0.170 million), Corporate and Customer Services (£0.100 million), and the Office of the Director of Public Health (£0.021 million) are expected 

to make savings, whilst the Executive Office is predicting a balanced year-end budget (£0). Average investment return represents the amount of profit made as a percentage 

of the original investment and has exceeded the target of 1.50%, ending quarter three on 1.87%. Average borrowing rate is also performing well, at 2.10% against a target of 

3.00%. 

What are we worried about? The People Directorate again saw the biggest overspend in quarter three, with a forecasted year end variation of £4.064 million, 

all of which is attributable to the Children, Young People and Families Service. However, this is a reduction from the £5.700 million overspend that was forecasted for the 

service at the end of quarter two. Spend against budget is associated with a strategic risk of being unable to deliver Council services within the envelope of the resources 

provided in the 2017-20 Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is currently RAG-rated as red, representing a serious risk to the Council. 

What needs to happen? A number of actions have already been implemented or planned in order to address the forecasted overspend. Additional funding has 

been allocated to Children’s Services as part of the 2019/20 budget proposals. 

Spending money wisely 
Spend against budget 

How have we done? £1.323m 

Decrease of £3.869 million from quarter two 2018/19, which is a 

decrease of 74.5%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: £0.000m 

As the target is for spend to be equal to the budget, performance in 

quarter three was £1.323 million above the target. 

Target rating: Red 

£4.259
£3.961

£3.494

£2.411
£2.882

£5.192

£1.323

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Forecast year end variation spend against budget (£m)

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 62



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 55 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of council tax collected – this is a cumulative measure. 

Why we measure it: The percentage of council tax collected shows whether or not the Council is on track to collect all council tax by the end of the financial 

year, which contributes to the amount of money that the Council has available to spend on its services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Performance has been stable for this indicator, with the percentage of council tax collected by the end of quarter three 2018/19 being 

similar to performance by the same period last year, and close to the target of 84.8%. In monetary terms, £104.652 million of council tax had been collected by the end of 

quarter three, which is 82.3% of all council tax that is due to be collected before the end of the 2018/19 financial year. We monitor the council tax collection rate formally 

once a week in our performance meetings and informally on a daily basis. There has been an increase in the number of customers opting to pay their council tax in 12 

monthly instalments instead of 10 this year, which means that we will collect a greater percentage in quarter four. We are on track to meet a similar level of collection as 

for 2017/18, bearing in mind that the end of year target of 98.5% relates to the total collected as billed and runs into the next financial year. 

What are we worried about? The amount of council tax collected in quarter three was slightly below the target. There has been a downturn in council tax 

collection rates nationally and this is likely to be borne out in Plymouth, regardless of how much resource we allocate to minimise the impact. In 2017/18, local authorities 

in England saw a decrease in collection from 97.2% to 97.1%, which equates to a reduction of £1.4 billion from the previous year. 

What needs to happen? We implemented an improvement plan to maximise the collection of council tax and have seen a positive impact on the rate achieved so 

far this year. This will continue to be monitored.

Spending money wisely 
Percentage of council tax collected 

How have we done? 82.3% 

The proportion collected is 0.4 of a percentage point less than the 

proportion collected by the end of quarter three 2017/18. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 98.5% (cumulative target) 

Performance for quarter three is 2.5 percentage points below the 

quarter three target of 84.8%. 

Target rating: Amber 

28.4%

55.3%

82.7%

97.0%

28.1%

54.8%

82.3%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Percentage of council tax collected

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 63



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 56 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) collected against the amount due to be collected.  

Why we measure it: NNDR is more commonly known as ‘business rates’ and charged on most properties that are used for non-domestic purposes, for example 

shops and offices. The collection of business rates represents approximately 61% of the Council’s overall income (2017/18) so it is important that the collection of NNDR 

is monitored.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Collection of business rates was a strong area for the Council throughout 2017/18 and has continued this trend in 2018/19, with the 

percentage collected in quarter three being marginally higher than in the same period last year and above the target of 83.5%. Analysis of the outstanding amounts against 

previous years shows that we are on trend to achieve our collection target of 98%. 

What are we worried about? The Revenue Support Grant is decreasing, meaning that there is a greater reliance from the Council on income from business 

rates. This reliance represents an operational risk to the Council. In-year collection of business rates is therefore of upmost importance to the organisation. 

What needs to happen? Many ratepayers spread their instalments across 10 months, meaning that in quarter three the majority of bills outstanding are for 

ratepayers who opt to pay in 12 monthly instalments, or for accounts which are in some form of recovery stage. It is important that there is close monitoring of the 

remaining live accounts to ensure that instalment plans and arrangements are being paid as billed, and moved to the appropriate recovery stage if necessary to recover the 

balances in-year.

Spending money wisely 
Percentage of business rates collected 

How have we done? 83.7% 

Increase of 0.1 of a percentage point from the same period last 

year. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 98.0% (cumulative target) 

Performance in quarter three is 0.2 of a percentage point above the 

quarter three target of 83.5%. 

Target rating: Green 

35.4%

59.5%

83.6%

99.3%

38.7%

58.3%

83.7%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cumulative % of National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 
collected

2017/18 2018/19 Target

P
age 64



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 57 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

What we report: This is a narrative update on progress made regarding our ‘Offers and Asks’ during quarter three. 

Why we report it: The Offers and Asks is our way of influencing the Government on what we need for the city. The ‘Asks’ are updated regularly and are used to 

advise and inform Plymouth’s three Members of Parliament (MPs).  

What’s working well? We have a public affairs approach in place to ensure that the Asks are our consistent message on topical and urgent issues for the city. New 

Asks are added as issues or opportunities are identified. The process includes sharing information with local MPs to equip them with the right level of information to raise 

issues on behalf of the city. The Asks are a key contributor of information to One Plymouth and ensure that messages are consistent among senior leaders in the city, for 

example the Chief Executive of University Hospitals Plymouth, the Vice Chancellor of the University of Plymouth and the Chief Constable. A multi-disciplinary approach 

draws in knowledge and experience from across the local authority. It is this approach that ensures that we have the best intelligence to enable us to identify key issues, in 

particular any impacts on local services. 

Following achievements at the end of quarter three, which included a successful Transforming Cities Fund Expression of Interest and the announcement that HMS Albion 

and HMS Bulwark would be protected, further campaigning this quarter has also seen Plymouth secure the maintenance and base-porting of the Type 26 Frigates. 

Furthermore, Plymouth Community Homes (PCH) has now received confirmation that works to replace the cladding at the Mount Wise Towers will be fully funded by the 

government – an issue on which PCH, the Council and MPs have concertedly lobbied.   

What are we worried about? Despite the above achievements, significant issues remain, such as ensuring that the Royal Marine Units in the South West are 

consolidated in the Plymouth/Torpoint area and that the design, maintenance and base-porting of the Type 31e Frigates is secured at Devonport.  

With the government also launching further consultations as part of its Fair Funding Review, ensuring that services in Plymouth are adequately funded remains crucial and 

work is ongoing to oppose any proposed cuts to the Council’s revenue support grant, public health grant and funding for adult and children’s social care. A campaign to 

ensure better funding for children with special educational needs has partially been successful, with Plymouth expecting to receive an additional £554,000.  

The impact of Brexit remains an ongoing concern and we have been urging government to release information and analysis on the impacts on Plymouth’s communities and 

businesses, as well as ensuring that the needs of the English fishing industry are heard given the key role that the industry has in the local economy.  

Work also continues to support improvements to the A38 and the work of the Peninsula Rail Taskforce, as well as the establishment of a new Sub National Transport 

Body – ‘Peninsula Transport’. 

What needs to happen? We need to strengthen and ensure a more systematic process to schedule messages. We also need to ensure that regular multi-

disciplinary input is sought in order to maintain horizon scanning, which informs the weekly policy briefs, as well as ensuring that we have the best intelligence to identify 

opportunities to influence policy and to use parliamentary mechanisms more effectively.

A strong voice for Plymouth regionally and nationally 
Offers and Asks 

P
age 65



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 58 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we report: This is a narrative update on progress made during quarter three regarding our work with partners and neighbouring councils, as well as how we 

promote our regional leadership role. 

Why we report it: We need to make sure that our area has a strong voice with government and does not lose out on any additional powers or devolved funding 

opportunities that other parts of the country have benefitted from. As the largest urban area in the South West Peninsula, it is natural that Plymouth plays a leading role in 

promoting the region with government. 

What’s working well? The Chief Executive of Plymouth City Council is the programme lead for the Heart of the South West partnership (HotSW), which 

involves working alongside all of the councils in Devon and Somerset, National Parks, the Local Economic Partnership, and Clinical Commissioning Groups. The HotSW 

Joint Committee continues to raise the profile of the area with Government, which in turn provides more opportunities for Plymouth to benefit from closer engagement 

with Ministers and senior civil servants. 

Following a Housing Summit in September, a new Housing Task Force has been set up to work with Homes England on developing an approach to encourage faster housing 

growth across the area. This approach will build on and complement the work already underway across Plymouth and the rest of the Joint Local Plan area. 

The Joint Committee has also written to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government to call for more resources to respond to the potential 

impact of a ‘no deal Brexit’ and to offer a means of local coordination for the South West Peninsula, working with other groups, including the Local Resilience Forums. 

The HotSW area has been designated as one of only nine areas in the country to work with the government on developing a Local Industrial Strategy (LIS). The Local 

Enterprise Partnership is leading on the development of the LIS, alongside the Joint Committee and other partners. This will allow us to increase our influence by 

highlighting the economic opportunities for our area and securing greater government support, and will give us a better insight into the new funding regimes that will 

replace European funding programmes. The Strategy is being co-created with government and is expected to be finalised in summer 2019.  

What are we worried about? It will be important to ensure that Plymouth’s future economic priorities and opportunities are strongly represented in the LIS as 

this is expected to be an important route for drawing down future government funding. 

What needs to happen? It is essential to make sure that the Joint Committee is effective and has a strong relationship with the HotSW Local Economic 

Partnership, ensuring that there is clarity regarding the joint working relationship and that we have the right skills and resources in place to support the work. A governance 

review is being undertaken to identify the most appropriate leads for the various agendas that the Joint Committee and Local Economic Partnership deliver, as well as 

effective support mechanisms. The review is due to report in January 2019. We also need to make sure that the Council continues to be closely engaged in the LIS 

development process and that we have a clearly articulated set of priorities.

A strong voice for Plymouth regionally and nationally 
Regional influence  

P
age 66



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 59 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

£5.192m 

£1.323m 

Spend 
against 

budget 

56% 

15% 

Statutory 
complaints 
completed 

within 
timescales 

83.7% 

83.6% 

Business 
rates 

collected 

70.0% 

60.0% 

Customer 

experience 

 

 

The pages in this section have given a detailed overview of the latest performance for the individual key performance indicators (KPIs) for the five outcomes under ‘How 

We Will Deliver’. This is summarised below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How We Will Deliver – Quarter Three Summary 

71% 

53% 

Staff who 
report use 

of customer 
feedback to 

improve 

services 

Regional 

influence 

Offers 

and Asks 

Listening to our 

customers and 

communities 

Providing quality public 

services 

Motivated, skilled 

and engaged 

workforce 

Spending money 

wisely 

A strong voice for 

Plymouth regionally and 

nationally 

82.7% 

82.3% 

Council 
tax 

collected 

30.8% 

Residents who 

know how to get 
involved in local 

decisions 

89.25% 

86.76% 

Customer 
complaints 
resolved in 

timeframe 
(first stage) 

67% 

64% 

Staff 

engagement 
7.55 

7.30 

Days lost 
due to staff 

sickness 

P
age 67



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER THREE 2018/19       Page 60 of 60 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

This report was produced by the Plymouth City Council Performance and Risk Team. For further information, please contact: 

Andrew Loton 

Senior Performance Advisor 

Chief Executive Office 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

West Hoe Road 

Plymouth 

PL1 3BJ 

 

andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk 

 

Further Information 

P
age 68

mailto:andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk


OFFICIAL 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Customer Services (Complaints/Improvement to Delivery of 

Services)

Committee: Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview Scrutiny 

Date: 20 March 2019

Cabinet Member: Councillor Sally Haydon 

CMT Member: Andy Ralphs 

(Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services)

Author: Helen Cocks, Customer Liaison Manager

Contact details Tel:  01752 304414
email: helen.cocks@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:

Key Decision: No 

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

To provide the Committee with an update on customer feedback, the work undertaken by 
Customer Services in relation to complaints and the improvement to the delivery of services. 

This report provides an analysis of the feedback received from Customers using the Customer 
Feedback Policy and digital process in the year to date 2018/19. It also provides details of the 
interventions and improvements made as a result of customer feedback. 

The Corporate Plan:

The customer feedback data contained within this paper has already been contributing to the 
quarterly Corporate Plan Performance Report in the following ways;

Listening to our customers and communities; using customer feedback for service improvement.

Providing quality public services; customer complaints resolved at first and second stage.

New performance indicators for monitoring complaints sit within the ‘How we will deliver’ theme, 
supporting the council to provide quality public services and listening to our customers and 
communities. 

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land:

No specific financial implications result from this report.
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

None

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No  

Page 69 Agenda Item 6



OFFICIAL 

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

1. Note the analysis of customer feedback data
2. Note the interventions and improvements made as a result of complaints
3. Endorse the continued use of digital processes for managing customer feedback to enable trend 

analysis, lessons learned and action to be taken to support continuous improvement of the 
customer experience. 

Alternative options considered and rejected:
N/A

Published work / information:

Customer Feedback Policy

Background papers:
None
  

Sign off:  

Fin djn.1
8.19.
244

Leg 3220
6/NJ

Mon 
Off

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member Andy Ralphs, Strategic Director of Customer and Corporate Services
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report? Yes

Page 70

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/CustomerFeedbackPolicyGuide2018_4web%20v2.pdf
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/CustomerFeedbackPolicyGuide2018_4web%20v2.pdf


OFFICIAL 

1. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In April 2018 the Council launched a new Customer Feedback Policy which included a two stage 
complaints process. The introduction of a two stage process was a recommendation from the Annual 
Local Government Ombudsman Report 2017 endorsed by the Council’s Audit Committee. 

In addition to the new Policy, process improvements were made in the following respects; 
 moving complaints handling for all complaints, excluding social care statutory complaints, onto 

our digital platform Firmstep
 identifying and formalising the role of Feedback Coordinators for all departments. 

These changes were implemented with the aim of improving the customer experience and to achieve 
benefits such as; 

 a consistent practice for handling customer feedback across the Council
 improved quality and timeliness of responses to complaints 
 improved data quality (for developing customer insight) and reporting 
 opportunities to learn lessons as a result of customer feedback
 a reduction in the number of complaints escalated to the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman (LGSCO).

Customer feedback is reviewed regularly by the Customer Liaison Manager and data is now available 
for all staff to review online in a real-time, interactive report accessible internally. Quarterly 
performance is reviewed by the Customer Liaison Manager with Strategic Directors and Service 
Directors through DMT meetings and monthly performance data is shared with the Corporate 
Performance Team. Monthly, departmental balanced scorecards now include measures of the; 

 number of complaints received
 percentage of complaints upheld
 percentage of complaints closed within timeframe
 number of LGO complaints received
 number of LGO decisions made.

Whilst measures are important to understand our performance, a key focus has been placed on how 
services use customer feedback to resolve issues. Lessons learned from upheld complaints and 
customer feedback are monitored regularly with departments and Corporate Plan Quarterly Reports 
now include complaints and any specific lessons learned from departments. 

Customer feedback data is also being considered for development into an open data set as part of 
Data Plymouth in the future.

An annual report analysing complaints to the LGSCO is provided to CMT and Audit Committee. 
Analysis of LGSCO data to date shows that signs are positive for a reduction in complaints being 
escalated this year. This position will continue to be monitored throughout the remainder of the year 
and be formalised in the annual report. A digital process is also being developed to support 
monitoring and reporting in future.

The LGSCO suggests that high volumes of complaints can be a sign of an open, learning organisation, 
as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider problems. They also suggest that low complaint 
volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to user feedback, rather than always 
being an indicator that all is well. Care is required in interpreting the data information in this report 
as the volume of complaints against an authority do not prove that it is a ‘poor’ or ‘good’ performing 
council.

Page 71



OFFICIAL 

1.2 Key Messages

The customer feedback data provided in this report has been extracted from the Customer 
Feedback process in Firmstep and covers the year to date, 1 April 2018 to 31 January 2019, following 
the implementation of the new two stage complaints process. 

Adult and Children Services Statutory Complaints are currently dealt with in a separate statutory 
processes. Work is already being undertaken to align complaints processes wherever possible to 
enable comparisons. 

The data does not include other customer feedback received via Councillors or MPs; both of which 
now have a digital process in place for capturing data and developing customer insight. 

The key messages from the analysis contained within this report are as follows;

 Over 6000 complaints have been received in the time period. This is a large increase in 
comparison to complaints received in 2017/18 which totalled 4040 for the same time period. 
This can be partly attributed to the fact that all complaints are now being recorded digitally 
whereas in previous years emails, letters and phone calls were dealt with outside the digital 
channel with no central record

 24% of the complaints received were then escalated to Stage 2 (meaning an additional 1482 
complaint investigations were required to be undertaken)

 Council average compliance with the 10 day response deadline is 83% 
o Further detail available in Section 2.1

 The Place Directorate receive the majority of complaints (88% of Stage 1 complaints – 5323 
complaints)

 49% of the complaints closed at Stage 1 were upheld (2915 complaints)
o Further detail available in Section 2.2 and 2.3

 353 compliments have been received in the time period
o Place receive the majority of compliments (65%).

Page 72



OFFICIAL 

2. COMPLAINT STATISTICS 

2.1 Complaints received 2018/19 year to date (1.04.2018 – 31.01.2019)

Table 1 below shows the total number of complaints received by Directorate. The data is split by 
Directorate and by Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints. 

Directorate Stage 1 Stage 2
People 62 4
Place 5391 1411
Executive Office 15 0
Transformation and Change 475 49
Customer and Corporate Services 10 1
Office of the Director of Public Health 86 14
Finance 2 0
Childrens Services 25 2
No Value* 10 1
Total 6076 1482

*No value captures complaints where customers have logged a complaint that covers more than one service 
area so cannot be attributed to a Directorate.  

The Customer Feedback Policy includes a service standard of 10 days for responding to customer 
feedback. Council average compliance with the 10 day response deadline in respect of complaints is 
83%. 
 
The graph below shows the compliance by Directorate with the 10 day service standard for 
responding to customer feedback. It shows that the Finance Directorate are the least compliant at 
Stage 1, with only 50% of their complaints being closed within 10 days, and that the People and 
Children’s Services Directorates are the least compliant at Stage 2 with none of their Stage 2 
complaints being closed within 10 days. 

Page 73



OFFICIAL 

2.1.1 Interventions and Service Improvements re: compliance

Finance Directorate

The majority of complaints for the Finance Directorate relate to maintenance of Council Land / 
Property. Such complaints often require input from the Street Services department to support the 
investigation of the issue therefore a review of the allocation of complaints has taken place to 
support improving timescales for responses. Feedback Coordinators across both service areas are 
working to ensure allocation happens as quickly as possible and in Street Services particularly to 
ensure that SLAs for providing services to the Property and Terrier Team. 

People and Children’s Services Directorates

Both the LGSCO Annual Report 2017/18 and the Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Report 
Quarter 1 detail compliance with timescales for responding to complaints, particularly focusing on 
statutory complaint timescales but similar issues apply across the People and Children’s Services 
teams with customer feedback in general. Recommendations for action from these reports and 
actions already in progress include; 

 the Customer Liaison Manager working more closely with the Statutory Complaints Team, 
currently based in Finance but due to move into Customer Services, to ensure monitoring 
and reporting processes are in place and can be joined up with corporate complaints 
monitoring

 the Statutory Complaints Team providing training to new managers and to cover undertaking 
investigations and providing responses to complaints

 the Statutory Complaints Team leading a review to stream line process 
 an external review (launched in Q3) to ensure all staff are fully aware of regulations and 

legislation in relation to complaint handling
 the Customer Liaison Manager working with the Statutory Complaints Team and Head of 

Service to review current processes. A meeting has also been undertaken with the Livewell 
Southwest Complaints and Litigation Manager. This resulted in the design of a ‘to be’ process 
for managing Adult Social Care complaints, the role of the triage process on receipt of 
complaints, reporting requirements to ensure compliance with timescales, and an agreed 
regular meeting schedule for reviewing the process across the organisations.

Place Directorate - Street Services 

The majority of complaints received for the Place Directorate are for the Street Services department. 
Both the LGSCO Annual Report and the Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 1 
include detail on Street Services. Recommendations for action from these reports and actions already 
in progress include; 

 a Street Services Modernisation Board meeting monthly, this including Customer Services staff 
to provide a key link between the service and customer services

 a focussed effort on setting customer expectations through consistency of messaging across 
the website, the contact centre/first stop shop and digital systems as well as updating policy 
wording, service standards and associated performance measures as the service modernises

 customer feedback, including complaints, being monitored on a monthly basis. Street Services 
using feedback to create hotspot mapping to help identify and realign issues as well as using 
learning from complaints

Page 74



OFFICIAL 

 changes to back office processes enabling better understanding of exactly what any complaints 
are about and data captured being visualised for team members and used at weekly 
performance meetings.

Following these interventions, significant improvements have been seen in terms of compliance across 
quarterly monitoring as highlighted in the table below in green; 

 

Q1 
baseline 

compliance 
data

Q2 
compliance

Q3 
compliance 

Highways Compliance Rate - Stage 1 24% 74% 66%
Highways Compliance Rate - Stage 2 4% 59% 72%
Waste Compliance Rate - Stage 1 76% 94% 97%
Waste Compliance Rate - Stage 2 79% 96% 97%
Parking Compliance Rate - Stage 1 46% 71% 82%
Parking Compliance Rate - Stage 2 100% 46% 43%
Street Services Compliance Rate - Stage 1 8% 61% 79%
Street Services Compliance Rate - Stage 2 11% 69% 88%

2.2Complaint Decisions

The Customer Feedback Policy includes definitions and criteria for complaints and complaint 
outcomes. In the year to date, 49% (2915) of Corporate Stage 1 complaints have been upheld; 
meaning the customer’s complaint is valid. 

If customers are not satisfied with the response they receive to their Stage 1 complaint, they have the 
option to submit their complaint again for review by a senior manager. 72% (1049) of the complaints 
escalated to Stage 2 have been upheld in the year to date.

The graph below shows the upheld rates for each stage of the complaints process by Directorate. It 
shows that the Executive Office has the lowest upheld rate at Stage 1 (6.67%) and the Place 
Directorate has the highest upheld rate at Stage 1 (50.33%). It also shows that the Customer and 
Corporate Services directorate has the lowest upheld rate at Stage 2 (0%) and the Children’s 
Services Directorate has the highest upheld rate at Stage 2 (100%). 

Page 75



OFFICIAL 

2.2.1 Interventions and Service Improvements re: upheld rate

Place Directorate - Street Services
As part of the interventions already noted in section 2.1.1, following a review of the Quarter 2 data 
with the DMT, effort was focused on reducing the upheld rate for Stage 2 complaints by reviewing 
the Investigating Officer roles. Waste Services had seen the highest upheld rate in Quarter 2 and the 
interventions undertaken across the back office team, including formalising processes and prioritising 
casework against service standards, supported a reduction in upheld rate from 86% in Quarter 2 to 
72% in Quarter 3. Overall, the Street Services department reduced the upheld rate from 75.05% 
Quarter 2 to 66.56% Quarter 3.  

The Street Services Modernisation Board approved a proposal to add a further classification layer to 
the Investigation process to enable clearer identification of the issues being reported by customers. A 
focused review of the outcomes will be reviewed with year-end reporting. 
 
Following Quarter 3 reporting, Street Services DMT agreed a deep dive of Stage 2 complaints to 
review the situation in more detail. This resulted in the production of guidance notes for Investigating 
Officers in respect of the specifics of the investigation process for Stage 2 complaints and an update 
to the guidance detailed within the digital process for customers. 

The Customer Feedback Policy clearly defines the criteria for a Stage 2 complaint and this has been 
reiterated to all departmental Feedback Coordinators to ensure the process is being managed as 
effectively as possible.

Children’s Services Directorate
Only 1 complaint has been closed at Stage 2 and upheld which means the upheld rate is 100%. This 
case was particularly complex relating to the home education of a child; lessons learned have been 
identified and actioned by the Education, Participation and Skills team. 

2. 3 Decision outcomes 

When an investigating officer determines a complaint valid, they must specify the reason why it has 
been upheld by selecting from one of four options defined in the Customer Feedback Policy;

Service not delivered – the customer did not receive the service they should have received

Service delayed – there was an unacceptable delay in us providing the service to the customer

Standard of service did not meet customer expectations – the customer received the service 
but elements of it did not meet the professional standard expected from Plymouth City Council 

Staff behaviour – the customer did not receive the professional standard of service expected from 
staff at Plymouth City Council. 

The graph below shows the reasons why complaints have been upheld at Stage 1 and Stage 2 across 
the Council.                  

Page 76



OFFICIAL 

The table below shows the number (combined Stage 1 and Stage 2) of upheld complaint reasons by 
Directorate. 

Directorate 

Standard of 
service did 
not meet 
customer 

expectations
Service 
Delayed

Service Not 
Delivered

Staff 
Behaviour

People 6 3   
Place 1180 1138 1194 199
Executive Office    1
Transformation and Change 89 26 56 32
Customer and Corporate Services 2  2 1
Office of the Director of Public 
Health 13  4 3
Finance  1   
Children’s Services 12   1
No Value   1  

Since Quarter 1 reporting showed the majority of complaints related to Street Services, regular 
monitoring of their upheld complaints has taken place. As the majority of complaints are upheld due 
to service delivery timescales (over 2500 complaints), the department’s service standards have also 
been regularly monitored in attempt to better understand the cause of complaints.

Service standards were introduced as part of the 2018/19 business planning cycle; service areas are 
required to identify timescales for the delivery of key services. These timescales are published to the 
customer automatically when logging a digital request for a service to better manage customer 
expectations. 

2.3.1 Interventions and Service Improvements re: upheld reason

Place Directorate - Street Services 

As part of the interventions already mentioned in section 2.2.1, a strong focus has been put on the 
delivery to service standards. Average cycle times are reported monthly to the Street Services 

Page 77

https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=People&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Place&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Executive%20Office&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Transformation%20and%20change&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Customer%20and%20Corporate%20Services&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Office%20of%20the%20Director%20of%20Public%20Health&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Office%20of%20the%20Director%20of%20Public%20Health&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Finance&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=Childrens%20Services&rs%3AParameterLanguage=
https://pccssrs2k1201.plymcc.local/ReportServer?%2FDigital%20Services%2FReports%2FDigital%20Services%20Dashboard%20Reports%2FDepartmentLevelFeedback&StartDate=04%2F01%2F2018%2000%3A00%3A00&EndDate=01%2F31%2F2019%2000%3A00%3A00&Directorate=No%20Value&rs%3AParameterLanguage=


OFFICIAL 

Modernisation Board and closely monitored across the DMT, liaison meetings with the Customer 
Services team and with the Portfolio Holder. Significant improvements have been seen in terms of 
reducing complaints being upheld for services not being delivered as highlighted in the table below in 
green; 
     

Q2 Q3

Service Not Delivered at Stage 1 
46%

(333 complaints)
35%

(172 complaints)

Service Not Delivered at Stage 2 
34%

(144 complaints)
28%

(40 complaints)

Quarter 3 reporting was discussed at the Street Services DMT in February and actions, including the 
outcomes from the deep dive noted above in section 2.2.1, are already underway to support further 
improvements within the next quarter. 

Page 78



OFFICIAL 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Safer Plymouth 

Committee: Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee

Date: 20 March 2019

Cabinet Member: Councillor Sally Haydon

CMT Member: Craig McArdle, Interim Strategic Director for People

Author: Matt Garrett, Service Director for Community Connections

Contact details Tel:  01752 306733 email: matt.garrett@plymouth.gov.uk   

Ref: N/A

Key Decision: N/A

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

This report is to provide Performance, Finance and Customer Focus OSC with an update on the 
Community Safety Partnership, Safer Plymouth.

The report outlines current formation and governance of Safer Plymouth, including theme groups and 
priorities.

It also includes a commissioning update and the most recent crime stats to give members an 
understanding on current issues and trends.

Corporate Plan

Safer Plymouth helps the City Council work within its four values especially we are Co-operative as a 
partnership supporting agencies to come together to support residents of the City.

Under Caring Plymouth, Safer supports a number of our priorities namely People feel safe in 
Plymouth, Keep Children, Young People and adults protected and A welcoming City. Safer does this 
through bringing together partners to look at themes and issues and to put actions in place to ensure 
that Plymouth is a safe place to live.
 

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land

No financial implications from this report. Safer does influence some commissioned services and does 
commission some external OPCC funding but is not directly responsible for PCC funding.

Page 79 Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

No other implications

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

Note the update 

Alternative options considered and rejected:

Not applicable

Published work / information:

Background papers:

Exemption Paragraph NumberTitle Part 1 Part II
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

  

Sign off:  

Fin djn.18
.19.24
6

Leg 3223
4/NJ

Mon 
Off

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member Craig McArdle, Interim Strategic Director for People
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 

Page 80



OFFICIAL 

1. INTRODUCTION

Safer Plymouth is the Community Safety Partnership for Plymouth. It sets the strategic direction
for the partnership work between agencies in Plymouth. Following recommendations made to Safer
Plymouth in September 2016, the Board now aligns its Governance structure with the Health and
Wellbeing Board 

Integrated commissioning receives funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner which is 
channelled through the Western Planning and Delivery Unit (Plymouth City Council and NEW 
Devon CCG integrated commissioning team) as a grant for spending on local crime prevention and 
reduction initiatives. 

For 2018-19 Plymouth was awarded a total of £400,568 for the year. This was a standstill position on 
the previous year’s award. All commissioning decisions were informed and influenced by the strategic 
leadership of Safer Plymouth. 

2. VISION

A city where people and communities feel safe and secure

3. FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Safer Plymouth sets out the statutory framework for responsible authorities to work with other 
local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to manage threat, risk and 
harm in their area Safer Plymouth will ensure: 

 It works to the principles of meeting National Standards (“Hallmarks”) of: Empowered and 
Effective Leadership; Intelligence led business processes; Effective and responsive delivery of 
structures; Engaged Communities; and Visible and constructive accountability:

 There is appropriate representation on the group. 
 There is effective sharing of information. 
 The preparation of annual strategic assessments (local and Peninsula) to assist in producing or 

revising the partnership plan.
 It informs integrated commissioning decisions
 It develops and monitors the Outcome Framework
 Views of Communities with regards to crime and disorder are considered
 A partnership plan to reduce threat, risk and harm is implemented
 They are cooperating with the Police and Crime Commissioner (P&CC) to tackle crime and 

disorder, having regard for the objectives in the Police and Crime Plan, responding to any 
request from the P&CC’s for a report.

Safer Plymouth needs to remain flexible, and review these Terms of Reference in light of any new 
changes in legislation as and when required.
Safer Plymouth will ensure that it focuses on crime that causes the highest harm and affects the 
most vulnerable people and maintains a focus on victims.  
Safer Plymouth recognise that there is often a balance to strike between communities’ ‘perception’ 
of crime and the ‘reality’, and will ensure that there is meaningful and appropriate communication 
where this situation arises.

Page 81



OFFICIAL 

4. PRIORITIES AND THEMES

The Safer Plymouth board is supported by theme leads who operate and chair sub groups around 
their designated theme. The Sub groups contain specialists from a range of agencies across the City.

Themes are chosen based on the priorities selected from the strategic crime assessment carried out 
on a yearly basis. The current priorities and sub groups: 

5.1 MODERN SLAVERY 

Context

Modern Slavery (MS) & Human Trafficking (HT) are identified as emerging areas of risk within the 
local Strategic Assessment, and as a result are a strategic priority for the Police & Crime 
Commissioner, and Devon & Cornwall police in terms of preventing crime and protecting the 
vulnerable.  As a theme MS is subject of an Organised Crime Local Profile (OCLP) where clear 
recommendations for more effective partnership responses are outlined. These priorities and 
recommendations underpin the work of the Safer Plymouth MS thematic delivery group that utilises 
a 4P (PREVENT, PROTECT, PREPARE, PURSUE) approach to tackling the theme

Purpose

To prevent and protect vulnerable victims of crime, through an effective and connected partnership 
commitment to awareness raising, risk mapping, and proactive engagement and enforcement where 
MS is suspected.

Objectives:

 To PREVENT MS by ensuring effective information sharing across the partnership and engaging 
local stakeholders to support multi-agency prevention and enforcement. 

 To PROTECT people from MS by raising awareness across service providers, developing 
effective geographic risk mapping, and identifying training needs across the partnership.

 To PREPARE for MS cases by developing guidance to assist in identifying and responding to MS 
cases, and to ensure opportunities for effective, multi-agency, proactive, engagement and 
enforcement are considered.

 To PURSUE those responsible for MS by ensuring victims are identified and supported in line 
with the NRM, and perpetrators subject of joined-up multi-agency enforcement

5.2 DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 

Context   

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DA&SV) have been identified as an area of priority from the 
Safer Plymouth Strategic assessment, it is also a priority of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual violence currently accounts for 12% of all violent crime in the City

Page 82



OFFICIAL 

Purpose 

To identify and protect victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence, their children and families 
through partnership working. To raise awareness of DA&SV and increase confidence in victims to 
report crimes and incidents. To investigate the efficacy of current national perpetrator programmes 
to establish one for the City

Objectives:   

• Services (public, private and voluntary) across Plymouth work together to respond to domestic 
abuse and sexual violence need. A mapping exercise is being undertaken currently to identify all 
the organisations in the City who are supporting victims and perpetrators of DA&SV to 
ascertain what is offered by the organisation and ensure there are shared outcomes, consistent 
terminology and identify the need in the City.

• The response to Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence across the City is accessible to all, 
through the identification of barriers and mitigating factors, the availability of services and 
operating hours. The group will determine reporting requirements for future services.

• Victims of Domestic Abuse and sexual violence have access to high quality services and support 
particularly with regard to workforce development. The learning from Domestic Homicide 
Reviews will be incorporated into the delivery plan to ensure lessons learnt are acted on.

• People know how to report domestic abuse and sexual violence in Plymouth and are confident 
to report domestic abuse and sexual violence in Plymouth. Understanding the signs and 
symptoms of DA&SV through training and awareness raising, building confidence to improve 
reporting of DA&SV and improving methods to report crimes and incidents. 

• The response to domestic abuse and sexual violence across the City incorporates a ‘whole 
family’ approach. This ensures improved working and information sharing between statutory and 
non-statutory organisations particularly between adult and children’s services. A Healthy 
relationships programme is delivered in schools consistently across the City to ensure all pupils 
receive the same guidance.

5.3 PREVENT 

Context

The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 contains a duty on specified authorities to have due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism. This is also known as the 
Prevent duty. 
Prevent is one aspect of CONTEST, the Government’s counter-terrorism strategy. There are two 
core elements to this strategy: 

 To provide practical help to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism and ensure they 
are given appropriate advice and support – this is undertaken via the Channel process, chaired 
by Plymouth City Council, which is a multi-agency panel that meets monthly to provide support 
to those identified at risk of being drawn into terrorist or extremist activity.

 To promote collaborative working with a wide range of sectors (including education, criminal 
justice, faith, health and the voluntary sector) where there are risks of radicalisation – this is 
undertaken through the Plymouth Prevent Partnership which meets on a quarterly basis and is 
aimed at supporting local partners and communities to share their experiences and discuss 
strategies for strengthening the city’s response to preventing extremism

Purpose

Prevent aims to ‘safeguard people and communities from the threat of terrorism’ via the Channel 
process and local Prevent Partnership. 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/counter-terrorism-and-security-bill


OFFICIAL 

Specifically, the Channel process aims to identify individuals at risk of being drawn into terrorism 
and develop the most appropriate support plan for the individuals concerned, both through 
provision of mainstream services i.e. education, employment or housing and through mentoring 
support or diversionary activities. 

The Prevent Partnership aims to support local communities and agencies to challenge and reject the 
message of extremism

Objectives:

The 2017/18 areas of focus for the Plymouth Prevent Partnership were identified based on the 
Counter Terrorism Local Profile as well as local priorities, with the following outcomes: 
 Increased awareness of the importance of Prevent across key partners in Plymouth. 
 Increased accessibility to Prevent (WRAP) Training for frontline staff, with a specific focus on 

those working in the fields of mental health and autism.
 Strong and active relationships have been established with communities identified as most 

vulnerable / at risk of being drawn into terrorism, as well as with key partnerships such as 
Plymouth Safeguarding Boards and Safer Plymouth. 

 Closer links have been established between Safeguarding and Channel processes

5.4 WELCOMING CITY 

Context

Plymouth seeks to deliver stronger, safer communities and good quality neighbourhoods as part of 
delivering its vision to become one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where an outstanding 
quality of life is enjoyed by everyone. 

The term 'community cohesion' is widely used to describe a state of harmony or tolerance between 
people from different backgrounds living within a community. The key measure of community 
cohesion is the percentage of people who believe people from different backgrounds get on well 
together in their local area. Currently available date indicates that community cohesion rates are 
poor across the City but not especially so amongst Black and Minority Ethnic Communities (BAME). 

Whilst the majority (52.7%) of Plymouth residents agree that their local area is one where people 
from different ethnic backgrounds get on well together, there are variable levels of Community 
Cohesion across the city which need to be addressed.

Purpose

The brief for a Welcoming City emerged in response to the following drivers: 

 The Plymouth Plan - The City will support strong and inclusive communities where people 
have a sense of belonging and ownership, feel safe and confident, with the opportunity to live, 
work and play in good quality sustainable neighbourhoods.

 Safer Plymouth - Plymouth is proud to be a welcoming city and continues to monitor levels of 
community cohesion.

 Plymouth Fairness Commission (2014): Recommendation 42: The city engage in a 
consolidated effort to generate leadership on tackling discrimination in all its forms in the city, 
including; i. A city leadership workshop on discrimination, ii. A high profile public event 

Page 84



OFFICIAL 

committing city leaders tackling all forms of discrimination, iii. Roll out of evidence based, age 
appropriate school based programmes to address discrimination

Objectives:

If Plymouth is to fulfil its city vision of a ‘vibrant waterfront city where an outstanding quality of life 
is enjoyed by everyone’ we must continue to build our reputation as a welcoming, multicultural city 
where agencies and communities work together to promote the benefits of diversity and challenge 
unfair discrimination. 

We aspire to be a fair city that supports strong and inclusive communities - where people have a 
sense of belonging and ownership, feel safe and confident, with the opportunity to live, work and 
play in good quality sustainable neighbourhoods.

We must work together to ensure that the needs of different communities of geography, identity 
and interest are respected, celebrated, and valued

5.5 CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 

Context

The Missing and Child Sexual Exploitation Group (MCSE) is appointed by the Plymouth Safeguarding 
Children Board (PSCB) and shall be made up of partner agencies of the Board

Purpose

The purpose of MCSE is to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the strategic and operational 
multi-agency response to Missing Children and Child Sexual Exploitation across Plymouth together 
with modern slavery and human trafficking.

Objectives

The MCSE has been appointed to undertake the following functions of the PSCB:-
 ensuring that current practice and interventions are informed by an evidence base and linked 

and mapped to national policy and developments;
 ensuring the focus is on prevention as well as response;
 ensure multi-agency practice is regularly reviewed and evaluated;
 ensuring that current and future multi-agency policies and procedures are appropriately designed 

to be responsive in meeting the demand that CSE, modern day slavery and human trafficking 
poses within the local community and when necessary develop new policies and procedures, for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children;

 ensure that there is clear data and evidence supporting effective responses to the risk to 
children and young people of CSE and Missing Children and modern slavery and human 
trafficking;

 ensure frontline practitioners are adequately trained in how to identify and respond;
 ensure that the public receive key messages; 
 ensure links to other groups of the PSCB and its Peninsula Local Safeguarding Children Boards

5.6 ALCOHOL HARM 

Context

Alcohol misuse is a significant public health challenge; it affects thousands of individuals, families and 
communities across the country and costs the NHS an estimated £3.5 billion each year.  There is a 

Page 85



OFFICIAL 

clear defined link between life expectancy and alcohol abuse and its link to other forms of substance 
misuse.  

The alcohol harm reduction group aims to ensure that the city remains a vibrant, welcoming place 
where the daytime and evening and night time economy is inclusive and welcoming to all.  Significant 
work and collaboration in 2017 between the Police and the Evening and night time economy 
community, to improve our working relationship.  Regular meetings are held in relation to current 
ongoing issues faced by both the Police and the community.  The Best Bar None team have been 
recognised for their outstanding work in continuing to work to make the evening and night time 
economy area safer and inclusive for all, especially with the Ask Angela campaign.

The licensing team have relaunched the reducing the strength campaign aimed at supply of high 
strength alcohol to those with complex needs or are alcohol dependant.  

Purpose

Within the ENTE arena, the group will focus on the viability of street safe scheme, night rangers and 
use of 3rd sector groups to ensure a safe and vibrant night out.

However, the group also needs to focus on reducing the impact of alcohol harm outside of the 
ENTE arena in order to understand and work to combat the binge drinking/preloading culture.

To look at the effect of alcohol harm in children and consider work that can be done in schools to 
encourage safe drinking.

To look at the effect of long term alcohol abuse and the relationship with alcohol in those members 
of the community with complex needs, in particular the rise in street drinkers and associated ASB 
and use of innovative initiatives to combat this.

Objectives

 To reduce alcohol related violence (excluding domestic abuse) 
 To minimise the harm of substance misuse and reduce alcohol related crime and reduce alcohol 

related demand in and around the ENTE areas of Plymouth (Mutley Plain, North Hill, City 
Centre, Barbican and the East End) 

 To understand the role that alcohol abuse plays in individuals with complex needs.
 To contribute to a positive and inclusive day/night time economy
 Identify gaps in current working practices and seek good practice in other cities.
 Reduce the rate of alcohol attributable hospital admissions
 Reduce levels of harmful drinking by adults and young people
 Reduce anti-social behaviour
 Reduce the number of children affected by parental alcohol misuse

5.7 CYBER CRIME AND FRAUD 

Context

The annual cost of fraud in the UK is estimated to be around £196b.  The average cost of 
cybercrime to a large UK business is £36,500 and to a small business it is £3100. Each year mass 
marketing mail scams, which often target vulnerable or disadvantaged consumers, cause 
approximately £3.5 billion worth of detriment to UK consumers.  In Plymouth over 800 victims of 
scams have been identified.  The average age of these victims is 72.  

Doorstep crime and scams are identified as high priority areas in the Regional and Plymouth Trading 
Standards Strategic Assessments and in the Safer Plymouth Strategic Assessment as areas of 
concerning emerging crime

Page 86



OFFICIAL 

Purpose

To raise awareness of cybercrime and fraud amongst the public, businesses and organisations in 
Plymouth.  To ensure a joined-up approach to the detection and investigation of cybercrime and 
fraud and in relation to the support of victims.

Objectives:

 To raise awareness of the crimes in Plymouth and inform potential victims on how to prevent it
 To bring together partner agencies and stakeholders to identify ways of working together to 

combat the crimes and better support victims.  This includes improved sharing of intelligence 
and the training of relevant front-line workers

 To review the National Cyber Crime Strategy 2016-21 and other relevant guidance and ensure 
recommendations are implemented in Plymouth.

 To look at best practice examples nationally in relation to combatting fraud and cybercrime and 
assess whether they can be implemented locally.

 To review the implementation of the National Banking protocol and how it applies in Plymouth
 To develop a Doorstep Crime partnership with relevant agencies

5.8 COUNTY LINES 

Context

County Lines, the term used to refer to the activity of dangerous drug networks. Section 34(5) of 
the Policing and Crime Act 2009 defines this gang-related drug dealing activity as: “the unlawful 
production, supply, importation or exportation of a controlled drug which occurs in the course of, 
or is otherwise related to, the activities of a group that: a) consists of at least 3 people; and b) has 
one or more characteristics that enable its members to be identified by others as a group”. 

A county lines gang features these additional criteria: 

 The gang / gang members are based in or have their origin within an urban city location; 
 They have established a market in a county town, into which they supply drugs; 
 They utilise a mobile phone number to facilitate drug orders from and supply to customers in 

the county town; 
 Their criminality systematically exploits young and vulnerable persons. 

Purpose

The main purpose of this project is to support Plymouth’s response to emerging crime and 
exploitation linked to County Lines by strengthening professionals’ understanding and 
responsiveness, increasing awareness with the public and providing visibility of support services to 
victims. The violence, vulnerability and exploitation linked to County Lines crosses over with that of 
Safer Plymouth themes of Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence 
and Child Sexual Exploitation. The delivery of the County Lines objectives will therefore be closely 
aligned with the objectives of the related themes. 

Objectives:

• A fuller understanding of Plymouth’s current situation in regards to gangs, violence and 
vulnerability, specifically around: county lines, the internal drug market, local gangs and sexual 
exploitation.

• Professionals across all sectors and the general public will have increased awareness of county 
lines and its links to violence, vulnerability and exploitation, and its context within the strategic 

Page 87



OFFICIAL 

outcomes of the Plymouth Plan, Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy, and Children and Young 
People Commissioning Strategy.

• Professionals across all sectors will have increased awareness of approaches to identify risk and 
take action to prevent violence, vulnerability and exploitation of adults, children and young 
people, leading to increased timely access to early intervention and specialist support as 
required.

• Professionals across all sectors will have improved meeting and partnership mechanisms for 
information sharing, identification, early intervention and responding to county lines and its links 
to violence, vulnerability and exploitation.

• Vulnerable adults and young people will have increased awareness of about the dangers of 
recruitment into the illegal drugs trade and consequences of involvement, and will know where 
to go to get help.

Safer Plymouth – Crime Statistics

The crime figures report on the period April 2018 to December 2018 as the latest data available at 
the time of writing. 

Since 2015/16, overall crime numbers have fluctuated but generally shown an increasing trend in 
Plymouth. 

Between April and December 2018, 18,144 crimes were recorded, which is an increase of 4.3% from 
the number recorded in the same period last year. However, crime rates in Plymouth continue to be 
low compared to our most similar group (MSG) average; between April 2018 and December 2018, 
the crime rate in Plymouth was the third lowest out of 15 in our MSG at 68.97 crimes per 1,000 
population, compared to an average MSG rate of 81.34. 

Crime type

Number of 
recorded 

offences in 
year to date 

(Apr 18 – 
Dec 18)

Number of 
recorded 

offences in 
previous 
year (Apr 

17 – Dec 17)

% 
change

Direction 
of travel

Plymouth 
rate per 

1,000 
population 
(Apr 18 – 
Dec 18)

MSG 
average 
rate per 

1,000 
population 
(Apr 18 – 
Dec 18)

Domestic 
abuse (all 
crimes and 
incidents)

5,047 4,560 10.7% Increase - -

Rape 253 270 6.3% Decrease 0.962 0.972

Other sexual 
offences 522 475 9.9% Increase 1.984 1.614

Violent crimes 
(with injury) 2,900 2,560 13.3% Increase 11.024 8.552

Violent crimes 
(without 
injury)

4,641 3,842 20.8% Increase 17.642 17.281

Serious 
acquisitive 
crimes

1,087 1,174 7.4% Decrease 4.132 7.173

Burglary – 
residential 532 526 1.1% Increase 4.867 11.534

Vehicle-related 
theft 1,058 1,145 7.6% Decrease 4.022 7.054

Page 88



OFFICIAL 

Anti-social 
behaviour 6,911 7,569 8.7% Decrease - -

Total crimes 18,144 17,402 4.3% Increase 68.970 81.340

We are continuing to develop and populate a performance scorecard that aligns with the objectives 
in the Peninsula Strategic Assessment and the make up of the Safer Plymouth delivery groups.

COMMISSIONING 
 Integrated commissioning receives funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner which is 

channeled through the Western Planning and Delivery Unit (Plymouth City Council and NEW 
Devon CCG integrated commissioning team) as a grant for spending on local crime prevention 
and reduction initiatives. For 2018 – 2019 and 2019 – 2020, Plymouth has been awarded a total of 
£400,568 for each year. 

 A commissioning plan was created in February 2017 based on the evidence within the strategic 
crime assessment and feedback from theme leads. The following is a summary of initiatives being 
commissioned:

Service/Project Impact/Outcomes
The Plymouth Domestic Abuse Service 
(PDAS)
Provision of accommodation based support 
within a refuge and dispersed units (23 units 
in total); 1:1 referrals for support, 
Independent Domestic Violence Advocates; 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
co-ordination and DASH training

Outcomes focus on improving the safety of victims and their 
families and encouraging them to engage with services and ideally 
move on from an abusive relationship. In the first 6 months April – 
September 2018:
 PDAS received 1,235 referrals with 60% coming from the 

Police 
 1,042 victims of domestic abuse engaged with the service and 

received support (an 85% engagement rate). 
 Re-referral rate is very low at 6% (within 2 years of any 

previous support)
 100% of service users engaging with the service report that 

they are supported to minimise risk to their selves and others, 
as well as achieving other positive outcomes.

 90% of victims exiting the service do so in a planned way 
 62 professionals have received DASH risk assessment training 
 The service supported 64 children 
 65 people attended Freedom and CAST programmes

Therapeutic counselling for victims of 
sexual violence
Ensure that we support victims of sexual 
violence with access to therapeutic 
counselling services and that services users 
are better able to cope with the experience 
they have had and recover from it.

In the first 6 months of 2018/19:

 194 people have been supported by this service 

 delivered in excess of 400 counselling sessions

 Outcomes for clients are monitored using a ‘cope and 
recovery’ mechanism. 

 Overall across 12 outcomes, experiences for clients 
remain good and showed positive improvements. 

The following illustrates the overall progress and distance travelled 
made by clients completing the programme in the 6 months: 

Page 89



OFFICIAL 

The Harbour Centre provides a 
community based drugs and alcohol 
treatment service. 
We support the delivery of service for those 
in contact with the criminal justice system.

Nationally, Drugs and alcohol are identified as 
two of the key drivers of crime and disorder 
in the Home Office Modern Crime 
Prevention Strategy (2016). 
Individuals dependent on opioids and/or crack 
cocaine (OCUs) are responsible for an 
estimated 45% of acquisitive crime 
(shoplifting, burglary, vehicle crime and 
robbery). Around 40% of all violent crimes 
are alcohol-related. Drug and alcohol misuse 
are related to other issues such as child 
protection, impaired driving, anti-social 
behaviour and domestic abuse. 
When engaged in and completing treatment, 
people use fewer illegal drugs, commit less 
crime, improve their health, and manage their 
lives better. This makes a real contribution to 
community safety.

Public Health monitor our cities outcomes for drugs and alcohol 
using the nationally agreed measurement of Diagnostic Outcomes 
Monitoring Executive Summary (DOMES)

Taken form the Plymouth DOMES for Q1 2018: 

1. Proportion of the treatment population in contact with 
the CJ system 

Plymouth Q1 National average

% (n) %

Opiate 25.3 313/1236 20.8

Non opiate 10.3 10/97 12.7

Alcohol 8.4 28/333 6.2

Alcohol and Non opiate 7.9 11/139 11.1

Comment we have a higher percentage of people in touch with 
the CJ system than other areas. This reflects both our levels of 
complexity and the many years of partnership working in the city.

Page 90



OFFICIAL 

 2. Successful completions as a proportion of CJ clients of 
all in treatment

Plymouth Q1 National average

% (n) %

Opiate 4.2 13/313 4

Non-opiate 0 0/10 37

Alcohol 21.4 6/28 40.7

Alcohol and non-opiate 27.3 3/11 32.4

Comment: Note the small numbers in all categories other than 
‘opiate’ whereby very small changes in numbers can have large 
percentage effects. The low numbers in these categories relate to 
patterns of referral from CJ agencies – opiate use is more 
criminogenic than other forms of drug use and there is a clear 
relationship between treatment and crime reduction, hence CJ 
agencies refer cases. For other drugs, eg alcohol, the relationship 
between treatment and reduced criminality is much less clear and 
referrals tend to be lower.

3. Proportion of CJ clients who successfully completed in 
the first 6 months in the latest 12 month period and 
represented within 6 months

Plymouth Q1 National average

% (n) %

Opiate 14.3 1/7 17.2

Non-opiate 0.0 0/0 4.4

Alcohol 0.0 0/3 6.4

Alcohol and non-opiate 0.0 0/2 5.8

Comment: In normal circumstances lower percentages equate to 
better performance in this domain, however, in this quarter our 
local numbers are so small no meaningful conclusions can be 
drawn at this stage, statistics are reported cumulatively so as the 
year progresses we should have a better handle on our actual 
performance.

Taken from: ‘PCC support pack 2018-19: key drug and alcohol 
data. Summary of area data for Police and Crime Commissioners’ 
PHE publication gateway number: 2017550

Plymouth has a higher than the national prevalence of drug and 
alcohol dependent people. 

Page 91



OFFICIAL 

Our Plymouth service: 
 Approx. 20% of all referrals into the service relate to CJS
 Performs better than the national average for waiting 

times for treatment 
 Has a higher than national average engagement rate of 

prison releases into our service
 Overall, there was a reduction of 44% in the number of 

individuals who were recorded as re-offending in the two 
years following the start of treatment and a 33% in the 
number of offences. 

 One year's social and economic return (related to crime, 
health and social care as well as improvements in quality-
adjusted life years) resulting from 2016-17 local 
investment in drug treatment is 33% return on investment

Healthy Relationships programme
The Multi Agency Child Sexual Exploitation 
Group (MACSE) (sub group of the 
Safeguarding Children’s Board) identified a 
need for quality assured earlier intervention 
and awareness work with children and young 
people in relation to CSE. 
The Plymouth Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Partnership (sub group of Safer 
Plymouth) identified the need for earlier 
intervention and awareness work with 
children and young people in relation to 
Domestic Abuse via healthy relationships.
This work draws together these ambitions 
and the main purpose of the service is to 
develop a strategic approach to delivery of a 
‘Healthy Relationships Programme’ in schools 
as an effective way of ensuring children and 
young people have access to information and 
skills to make informed decisions on the 
relationships they experience. 
It will ensure an equitable offer to schools and 
provide quality assurance to the system. 

In collaboration with key stakeholders, we commissioned this 
service in August 2017. 
As an early intervention and prevention initiative this programme 
will ultimately contribute to the long term strategic outcomes as 
set out in the Plymouth Plan; Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy 
and CYP Commissioning Strategy: 
 Delivering strong and safe communities 
 Improvement in health and wellbeing 
 People and communities feel safe
 Reducing harm
 Children are protected from sexual exploitation

Activity delivered:
 An advisory group has been in place to support, challenge 

and guide the project, including expert consultation from 
lead education advisors

 A young person’s participation group established with 
engagement and co-design happening alongside the 
advisory group 

 The initial pilot has been completed which has included 
significant research, scoping of options and young person 
participation – featuring the young persons animated film 
and definition of a healthy relationship. 

 Direct delivery pilot within two secondary schools, has 
been completed

 Five schools have piloted a self-assessment audit.
 Over 50 resources have been quality assured by 

professionals and young people which are now included in 
the resource bank is growing (a matrix has been 
developed to support this activity for future use).

 Workforce development for school staff in currently being 
undertaken which have been coproduced and co-delivered 
by young people (open to all secondary schools – due to 
complete April 19)

Addressing Antisocial Behaviour, low 
level and emerging crime

Plymouth City Councils Community 
Connections department works closely with 
partner agencies identifying/preventing/and 
responding to ASB and emerging issues.

Number of Operations in City targeting reduction of ASB:
 Efford Youth Anti-Social Behaviour – In May 2018 following an 

increase of ASB reports (58% reduction over the previous 
months) in Efford it was identified via discussions between 
Councillors, Neighbourhood Policing, Street Scene and 
Community Connections that there was a lack of youth 
provision in the area. Funding requested to implement a 3 

Page 92



OFFICIAL 

Enhanced joint working practices have been 
implemented between police colleagues and 
Community Connections via a 
Neighbourhood Problem Solving Group. This 
links with the police TIMS meetings and 
allows the early detection of emerging 
neighbourhood issues and the deployment of 
early intervention/ prevention activity.

month provision from Street Games whilst Pop Up youth 
providers conducted consultation with the young people. 
During period 30 young people were engaged with, 3 x ASB1’s 
issued which did not progress to ASB2’s. In the first month of 
engagement there were 10 criminal damage offences for the 
area however in month 2 and 3 there were only 2 per month 
which is below the average of 6.8 for the locality.

 Motor Bike Offences – In September 2018 it was identified 
that there was a significant increase in motor vehicle offences. 
Information showed a total 69 offences since the 1st of August 
2018. The offences appear random and mostly target motor 
cycles and Mopeds that are not secured. A number of actions 
had been undertaken, including identifying target individual’s 
and localised primary tasking to enable patrols to be directed 
into the vulnerable locations, however the offences persisted. 
Working in conjunction with other tactical options funding 
was requested to support a crime prevention initiative. The 
initiative will purchase 80 chains and locks which will be 
distributed directly to repeat victims, vulnerable people via a 
police led community event in conjunction with PCC on 
Sunday 30th September. At the event it is estimated that over 
200 people attended, 110 motorcycle chains were distributed 
to residents across the city and 14 people were signed up to 
the Neighbourhood alert.  

Prevent

The programme seeks to raise social and 
emotional competence and increase empathy 
amongst children by incorporating themes of: 
celebrating and valuing local community; 
understanding different beliefs and diversity 
and promoting Plymouth as a great place to 
live and work. 

The schools based empathy programme outcomes were: 
 Demonstrable change in social and emotional competence and 

increased empathy amongst children 
 Positive changes have been achieved in children’s attitudes and 

behaviours 
 Children’s understanding of different beliefs and values has 

improved 
 Increased perception of valuing and celebrating local 

community 

Page 93



OFFICIAL 

A full evaluation report for this project can be found here
WRAP training: 
Plymouth City Council commissioned and delivered 20 WRAP 
training sessions and offered over 400 places. The training was 
offered to all Plymouth City Council staff, Maintained Schools, 
Foster Carers and the VCS; 276 frontline staff were trained.

Community Safety Awareness Raising
The partnership delivers events to improve 
public awareness of specific issues and 
available services as well as supporting 
professional workforce development 

We are delivering a co-ordinated plan of activity for the 
partnership to ensure we raise the profile of our priorities with 
professionals and the public. The Safer Plymouth Board and Exec, 
work has focused on the delivery of: 
 A Safer Plymouth communications strategy 
 A Safer Plymouth events calendar aligned to Safeguarding 

Boards 
 Co-ordination of a key Stakeholder list 
 4 development and training sessions for the Board and key 

stakeholders  
 A series of key message cards have been designed for 

professionals

Key deliverables have focused on the following campaign’s and 
conferences:
 Domestic Abuse and violence against women and girls 16 

days of action 23rd November – 10th December
 Sexual Violence awareness week 4th – 10th February 

including the formal opening of the new purpose built 
SARC and; 

Page 94

http://issuu.com/stagggroup/docs/eis_final_report?e=2702067/63512650


OFFICIAL 

 Sexual Violence conference ‘Improving our responses to 
sexual violence’ 6th February 2019 

 In progress - Safer Plymouth re-launch with a trauma 
informed practice conference 19th March 2019

Regional services supporting Plymouth
Alongside funding for CSPs, the Office for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner supports a 
number of activities across Devon, Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly for 2017/18

 Safeguarding Boards – contribution to Childrens and Adults 
Boards including training and Serious Case Reviews;   

 Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs) – 3 SARCS co-
commissioned with NHSE. 

 Sexual Offence Lawyer Provision – to introduce a 3 year pilot, 
based in police stations to improve quality of investigations, 
experience for the victim and CPS processes.

 Offender Diversion Scheme – exploring innovative offender 
management to lead to longer term behaviour change 
including a delayed charge and diversion scheme.  

 Youth Offending Service – aligned with redesign and current 
transformation of Youth Offending service and preventing and 
deterring crime offender management model.

 Victim support – victim care arrangements such as victim 
support, network and website and Restorative Justice. 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance, Finance and Customer 
Focus Overview Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme 2018-2019

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at 
short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to be of strategic 
relevance.

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s work 
programme, please contact Jamie Sheldon, Democratic Advisor on 01752 304001.

Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Police/Safer Plymouth/ 
Community Safety (Update 

Report)
(4) To receive an update Councillor 

Haydon/Matt Garrett

Customer Services 
(Complaints/Improvement to 

Delivery of Services) (4)

To receive an update on the work 
undertaken by Customer Services, 

particularly complaints and the delivery 
services

Councillor 
Haydon/Andrew 

Hardingham

Customer Experience 
Programme (5) To receive an update on the Customer 

Experience Programme

Councillor Jon 
Taylor/Haydon/Andy 

Ralphs

20 March 
2019

Corporate Plan Performance 
Report Q3 (5)

To monitor the Council’s performance, 
and identify areas of concern for further 

scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Loton/Rob Sowden

Items to be scheduled 2018/19

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Homelessness Action Plan

Site Visits

Staff Survey Update

Select Committee Reviews

To be 
scheduled

Gypsy Roma and Travellers 
Unauthorised Camps (4) Member request

Councillor 
Penberthy/Matt 

Garrett

Joint Select Committee Reviews

To be 
scheduled Homelessness (5)

Member request
Joint Review with Health and Adult 

Social Care OSC and Brexit, 
Infrastructure and Legislative Change 

OSC

Councillor 
Penberthy/Carole 

Burgoyne/Matt 
Garrett

Page 97 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Tracking Decisions

Tracking Decisions – 20 March 2019 Official

Minute No. Decisions Target Date, Officer 
Responsible and Progress

13 February 
2019

Staff Survey 
2018

Minute 41

Members noted the report and requested a Staff Survey update at a future meeting to discuss 
the outcomes of the departmental action plans.

Date:  February 2019
Officer: Jamie Sheldon
Progress: The Committee’s 
work programme has been 
updated accordingly.

13 February 
2019

The 
Registration 
Service 
Update

Minute 42

The Committee agreed that the following recommendations be submitted to Cabinet for 
consideration –

1. The Registration Service proceeds with plans to move the repository and the majority 
of office-based registrations (births/deaths/still-births/notices of marriage) to Building 1 
by the end of September 2019. This will ensure:

 that Building 1 is fully-utilised after being under-occupied for almost 4 years
 alignment with Coroners Service already based at Building 1
 that accessibility is improved for customers
 closer working relationships with the Coroner’s Service who share the 

same end-users and stakeholders
 improved communications with Derriford Hospital to improve GRO KPIs  

2. The Registration Service investigates whether it is viable to continue to provide non-
statutory ceremonies (currently delivered in the Drake Suite, Lockyer Street). The 
following points need to be considered:

 customer demand for this type of non-statutory ceremony
 maintaining income
 the days of the week we might offer this type of non-statutory ceremony
 a suitable PCC location in the city centre which will mean revisiting use of the 

Council House or Guildhall

Date:  February 2019
Officer: Jamie Sheldon
Progress: The 
recommendations have been 
submitted to Claire Daniells 
(Senior Governance Advisor) 
who will liaise with Cabinet.

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 10



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Tracking Decisions

Tracking Decisions – 20 March 2019 Official

 a city centre location to support local businesses and revenue within the city

3. The Registration Service fully promotes licensing to premises across the city so more 
have the opportunity to be approved for ceremonies which will:

 improve choice for those wishing to get married or enter into a Civil 
Partnership in Plymouth

 increase business and revenue with the city
  
The Registration Service further investigates provision of office-based registrations 
(births/deaths/still-births/notices of marriage) in the city centre and other areas of the city if 
customer demand is proven.

P
age 100


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Corporate Plan 2018-22 Quarter 3
	Corporate Plan 2018-22 Quarter Three 2018-19

	6 Customer Services (Complaints/Improvement to Delivery of Services)
	7 Safer Plymouth
	9 Work Programme
	10 Tracking Decisions

